

IDB Prize Winners' Lecture Series No.9

WHAT IS ISLAMIC ECONOMICS?

ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK
ISLAMIC RESEARCH AND TRAINING INSTITUTE
JEDDAH, SAUDI ARABIA

ISLAMIC RESEARCH AND TRAINING INSTITUTE (IRTI)

Establishment of IRTI

The Islamic Research and Training Institute was established by the Board of Executive Directors of the Islamic Development Bank (IDB) in 1401H (1081) The Executive Director thus implemented Resolution No.BG/14-99 which the Board of Governors of IDB adopted at its Third Annual Meeting held on 10 Rabi Thani 1399H (14 March 1979). The Institute became operational in 1403H (1983).

Purpose

The purpose of the Institute is to undertake research for enabling the economic, financial and banking activities in Muslim countries to conform to *Shari'ah* and to extend training facilities to personnel engaged in economic development activities in the Bank's member countries.

Functions

The functions of the Institute are:

- (A) To organize and coordinate basic and applied research with a view to developing models and methods for the application of *Shari'ah* in the field of economics, finance and banking;
- (B) To provide for the training and development of professional personnel in Islamic Economics to meet the needs of research and *Shari'ah* -observing agencies;
- (C) To train personnel engaged in development activities in the Bank's member countries;
- (D) To establish an information center to collect, systematize and disseminate information in fields related to its activities; and
- (E) To undertake any other activities which may advance its purpose.

Organization

The President of the IDB is also the President of the Institute. The IDB's Board of Executive: Directors acts as its supreme policy- making body.

The Institute is headed by a Director responsible for its overall management and is selected by the IDB President in consultation with the Board of Executive Directors. The Institute consists of three technical divisions (Research, Training, Information) and one division of Administrative and Financial Services.

Location

The Institute is located in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia.

Address

Telephone: 6361400 Fax: 6378927/6366871 Telex: 601407 - 601137

Cable: BANKISLAMI - JEDDAH

P.O. Box 9201 Jeddah

21413 Saudi Arabia

ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK ISLAMIC RESEARCH AND TRAINING INSTITUTE JEDDAH, SAUDI ARABIA

WHAT IS ISLAMIC ECONOMICS?

MUHAMMAD UMER CHAPRA

IDB Prize Winners' Lecture Series No.9

IDB Prize Winners' Lecture Series No.9

© ISLAMIC RESEARCH AND TRAINING INSTITUTE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK

The views expressed in this book are not necessarily those of the Islamic Research and Training Institute, nor those of the Islamic Development Bank. References and citations are allowed only with proper acknowledgements.

First Edition 1417H (1996)

Published by:

ISLAMIC RESEARCH AND TRAINING INSTITUTE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK TEL: 6361400 FAX: 6366871 TLX: 601407-601137 ISDB SJ

P.O. BOX 9201 JEDDAH 21413 SAUDI ARABIA



IN THE NAME OF ALLAH, MOST BENEFICENT, THE MOST MERCIFUL

CONTENTS

	Page
Foreword	7
Preface Introduction	9 11
Introduction	11
PART I	13
CONVENTIONAL ECONOMICS Conflict Between Goals and Worldview	
The Three Basic Concepts	15
Pareto Efficiency Versus Normative Goals	17
The Background Conditions	19
The Inconsistency Between Microeconomics and Macroeconomics	22
PART II ISLAMIC ECONOMICS	25
The Paradigm	
Two Levels of Filtering	27
The Problem of Motivation	28
Socio-Economic Restructuring	29
The Role of the State	29
Redefining Efficiency and Equity	31
Socially Acceptable Market Equilibrium	31
Islamic Economics Defined	33
Methodology	36
A Word of Caution	41
Science, Unseen Objects and Value Judgments	43
Realistic Assumptions	45
The Rise of Islamic Economics	46 49
Lag in the Development of Theory The Task Ahead	53
Bibliography	55

FOREWORD

As an international financial institution serving the *urnmah*, the Islamic Development Bank (IDB) aims at fostering economic development and social progress of member countries and Muslim communities in accordance with principles of *Shari'ah*. In order to achieve its objectives and to discharge the necessary obligations at an operational level, pertaining to research, training and dissemination of information, IDB established Islamic Research and Training Institute (IRTI) in 1401H (1981G) which became operational in 1403H (1982G).

In addition to conducting research and training activities, IRTI has started a number of schemes to promote and encourage Islamic economic activities all over the world. These schemes aim at promoting external expertise and harnessing the resources of the *ummah* for the promotion of Islamic economics. IDB prizes in Islamic economics and banking is one of these activities. The objective of these prizes is to recognize, reward and encourage creative efforts of outstanding merit in the fields of Islamic economics and banking. One prize is awarded every year alternating between Islamic economics and banking.

The IDB prize in Islamic economics for the year 1409H (1989G) was awarded to Dr. Muhammad Umar Chapra, who is one of the pioneers of Islamic economics. The prize was awarded to him in recognition of his valuable contributions characterized by analytical rigor and deep command of Islamic economic concepts and in appreciation of his active role for the promotion of Islamic economics through international conferences, seminars, workshops and lectures.

Dr. Chapra has a thorough understanding of economic concepts and his writing style is highly scientific. His writings have inspired many Muslim and non-Muslim scholars. His style is so lucid that it appeals to specialists and non-specialists alike. In view of these unique abilities of Dr. Chapra, he was requested to deliver the IDB prize laureates lecture on the topic "What is Islamic Economics'?". IRTI is now pleased to

present this valuable lecture for the benefit of all those who are interested in Islamic economics.

In this lecture, Dr. Chapra has explained both the subject matter of Islamic economics as well as its methodology in his usual masterly fashion. He has also presented a comparative perspective for solving the eternal 'conomic problem' He has explained how the Islamic economics paradigm deals with this problem and allocates the scarce resources among their alternative uses in such a way that human well-being is maximized without sacrificing social objectives.

Being well-versed in conventional economics and at the same time being a pioneer of Islamic economics, there could be nobody better than Dr. Chapra to explain the paradigm of Islamic economics which has attracted the interest of Muslim as well as non-Muslim scholars in the last two decades. It is hoped that the publication of this valuable lecture will enhance the understanding of this nascent science and will help in its development on scientific lines.

Dr. M. Fahim Khan
Officer-in- Charge, IRTI

PREFACE

This paper is the revised and expanded version of a lecture delivered by me on 29 October 1990 at the premises of the Islamic Development Bank in Jeddah, after receiving the Bank's Award kindly awarded to me as a recognition of my humble contribution to Islamic economics.

I wish to record my thanks to IRTI for its constant encouragement to complete the revision and expansion, which I was unable to do until now because of a number of other pressing commitments. The basic ideas in this revised version are the same as those in the original lecture. However, since the lecture was delivered before a mixed audience which did not consist of only economists, the ideas had to be expressed in non-technical language which everyone could understand. Such a restraint sometimes makes it difficult to say everything that the author would like. Although an effort has been made even in the revised version to keep it simple to retain its accessibility to even the non-economist, the generally well-known technical terms have not been totally avoided.

I have benefited from the translations of the Qur'an by Abdullah Yusuf Ali, T. B. Irving, and Muhammad Asad, even though I have not reproduced their translations. Translations of *ahadith* and other Arabic literature are my own.

M. Umer Chapra Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency Riyadh Saudi Arabia

INTRODUCTION

The subject matter of all economics, irrespective of whether it is mainstream or Islamic, is the allocation and distribution of scarce resources which have unlimited uses. However, precisely because of the scarcity of resources and their alternative uses, it is not every allocation and distribution which is acceptable to society. Hence, economics has also been directly or indirectly involved in a discussion of human wellbeing, to be realized through an improvement in the allocation and distribution of resources in conformity with the social vision.

Different worldviews, however, reflect different social visions, and the worldview of a society, therefore, imperceptibly tends to exert a significant influence on economic discussions. Since conventional western economics dominates modern economic thinking, it may be easier for us to understand Islamic economics if we look at it against the backdrop of conventional economics. Part one of this paper, therefore, discusses the goals, worldview and method of conventional economics, to prepare a suitable background for the discussion of Islamic economics in part two.

PART I

CONVENTIONAL ECONOMICS

CONFLICT BETWEEN GOALS AND WORLDVIEW

Conventional economics has set before itself two different sets of goals. One of these is what may be termed positive, and relates to the realization of 'efficiency' and 'equity' in the allocation and distribution of scarce resources. The other is what may be called normative, and is expressed in terms of the universally-desired socio-economic goals of need-fulfillment, full employment, optimum rate of economic growth, equitable distribution of income and wealth, economic stability, and ecological balance, all of which are generally considered indispensable for actualizing human well-being. Both of these sets aim at serving individual as well as social interest in conformity with the worldview that underlies each of them. Nevertheless, the first set has been called positive because of the claim that efficiency and equity can be determined without value judgments, while the second has been called normative because it reflects the society's values about what ought to be. Whether or not these two sets of goals are mutually consistent depends on how efficiency and equity are defined. This will become clear with the progress of the discussion.

The use of scarce resources in a way that both the positive and the nonnative goals are realized brings into focus the need for three indispensable mechanisms: filtering, motivation, and socio-economic restructuring. Firstly, the unlimited claims on resources need to be passed through a filter in such a way that not only a balance is attained between supply and demand but also all those claims are eliminated that are in conflict with goal realization. Secondly, if coercion is ruled out, then such filtering needs to be brought about by motivating all individuals sufficiently to put in their best performance and to abstain from the use of resources in a way that frustrates goal realization. Motivation acquires a great significance in economics as compared with, say, physics, because economics deals with human beings who may or may not always behave in a standard predictable manner. Hence, human beings need to be motivated to behave in a manner that would facilitate goal realization.

Thirdly, it is also necessary to have socio-economic restructuring to enable a prompt and smooth transfer of human and material resources from one use to another until both sets of goals have been realized. Within this perspective anything that prevents the kind of filtering, motivation and restructuring that goal realization requires is a distortion, and any use of resources that does not directly or indirectly contribute to, or is in conflict with, goal realization is 'unproductive', 'inessential' or 'wasteful'.

Whether or not conventional economics has been able to realize its positive goals is not possible to say because of the difficulty of defining and measuring both efficiency and equity in a dynamic economy. However, it is generally agreed that even the rich industrial countries have been unable to realize their nonnative goals in spite of substantial resources at their disposal. What could be the reason for this failure?

This failure may be due to two reasons: firstly, the inability of conventional economics to suggest a proper strategy, and secondly, the inability of the society concerned to implement the strategy effectively. The question of implementation, however, acquires significance only if the strategy is proper. Within the perspective of this paper, the primary reason may perhaps be the inability of economics to suggest a proper strategy, and the primary reason for this may be the conflict between the worldview of conventional economics and its normative goals. The normative goals are the by-product of belief in human brotherhood, which is in turn the byproduct of a religious worldview that emphasizes the role of belief in God, accountability of human beings before Him, and moral values in the allocation and distribution of resources. The strategy is, however, the outcome of the Enlightenment Movement, the worldview of which was basically secularist. It considered all the revealed truths of religion as "simply figments of the imagination, nonexistent, indeed at the bottom priestly inventions designed to keep men ignorant of the ways of Reason and Nature". This weakened the hold of religion and the collective sanction it provides to moral values, and thus deprived the

¹Brinton, 1967, p.520.

society of morally-oriented filtering, motivating and restructuring mechanisms. It also gave rise to materialism and social Darwinism which were both at variance with the concept of human brotherhood.

THE THREE BASIC CONCEPTS

The secularist worldview gave rise to a number of concepts which constitute the paradigm of conventional economics. One of these was that of rational 'economic man'. Given the materialist and social Darwinist outlook of this worldview, rational behaviour did not get identified with what was necessary to serve the social interest or to realize the normative goals. It rather became equated with unhindered freedom of the individual to pursue his self-interest. Individual self-interest in turn became identified with the maximization of wealth and want satisfaction, independent of its impact on the well-being of others. Such an emphasis on the pursuit of self-interest had a social stigma attached to it because of its apparent conflict with the prevalent social vision. Adam Smith helped remove this stigma by arguing that if everyone pursued his self-interest, the 'invisible hand' of market forces would, through the restraint imposed by competition, promote the interest of the whole society.² By thus implicitly assuming an inevitable harmony between self-interest and social interest, Adam Smith turned the eyes away from the social obligations of individuals to the 'unintended' consequences or the final social outcome of their actions. The general equilibrium theory is, as Rosenberg has put it, the formalized approach to the systematic study of this claim about how the unintended consequences of uncoordinated selfishness result in the most efficient exploitation of scarce resources in the satisfaction of wants."3

The second concept was that of 'positivism'. 'Positiveness' did not, however, become defined in terms of the impact on normative goals. It rather became defined in terms of unrestrained individual freedom.

²Smith, 1776, p.423.

³Rosenberg, 1992, p.219; see also Backhouse, 1994, p.13

Economics thus became "entirely neutral between ends" and "independent of any particular ethical position or normative judgments". The preferences or subjective valuations of individual members of society were to be taken as given. No judgment could be passed on these in terms of their consistency with normative goals. This doctrine of *wertfreiheit* (freedom from value) has become an indispensable and noncontroversial part of the economics paradigm and is generally accepted unquestionably by the rank and file of the profession. Consequently, it has become the primary task of economists to describe and analyze what 'is' to be able to predict what may happen in the future. They cannot pass any judgment on what 'is', or suggest what 'ought to be'. They may discuss only the possibility function and not the preference function.

Positivism also became "associated with the belief that any question asked by economics must have an empirically determinable right or wrong answer." If the answer is not empirically determinable, economics should not consider the question. This automatically led to emphasis on concepts which are measurable in pecuniary or material terms. The Social Science Research Building at the University of Chicago reads: "f you cannot measure, your knowledge is meager and unsatisfactory" Such an attitude deprived economics of the task of analyzing the impact of social values and institutions on the allocation and

⁴Robbins, 1935, p.24. ⁸Friedman, 1953, p.4.

⁶There is a difference of opinion among economists on the goal of economic method. Positivists and operationalists, like Samuelson, emphasize that the role of economics is only to describe. Logical empiricists however insist that explanation is the goal of economics. In contrast with both of these, instrumentalists, like Friedman, emphasize that prediction is the primary function of economics (See Blaug, 1980; and Caldwell, 1982). Since I do not wish to get into this controversy in this brief paper, I have mentioned all three in the text.. There is another goal, persuasion, which has also become emphasized (McCloskey, 1986). It is, however, not different from explaining and predicting because it may not be possible to persuade without convincing explanation and reliable prediction.

⁷ Colander, 1992, p.113.

⁸Cited by Kuhn, 1961, p.161.

distribution of resources⁹ and of suggesting a programme of social steering to actualize the social vision.

The third concept, which was essentially a derivative of the assumed harmony between individual and social interests, was that of the efficacy of market forces. It was asserted that the economy will run efficiently if left to itself. Any effort on the part of the government to intervene in the self-adjusting market on the basis of society's normative goals could not but lead to distortions and inefficiency. The government should hence abstain from intervening. Market forces would themselves create 'order' and 'harmony', and lead to 'efficiency' and 'equity'. Even though the Great Depression and the resultant Keynesian revolution tended to undermine this faith in the efficacy of market forces, the recent disenchantment with large government role in the economy has restored it once again and there is a call for liberalism or return, as nearly as possible, to the classical model with 'minimum' government intervention.

PARETO EFFICIENCY AND NORMATIVE GOALS

Such a paradigm had the effect of making the market the only determinant of efficiency and equity in the allocation and distribution of resources and of virtually eliminating the role of all other factors, including social values and institutions. Market-determined prices (and costs, which are also prices) became the only filtering mechanism and self-interest the only motivating force. It was argued that self-interest would lead the sovereign consumers to buy at the lowest price whatever was in conformity with their preferences, the only constraint being their disposable income. Self-interest would also induce the producers to produce at minimum cost whatever they considered to be best for maximizing their profit. The free interaction of utility-maximizing consumers and profit-maximizing producers would, under perfectly competitive market conditions, determine the market clearing prices for goods and services and lead to the production of that configuration of goods and services which maximizes not only consumer utilities but also

⁹ Blaug, 1980, p.149

the incomes of factors of production on the basis of their contribution to output and revenue. At the point of equilibrium, consumer satisfactions (utilities) would be maximized, supplier costs minimized, and factor earnings maximized. Thus ensuring not only the most productive use of resources but also harmony between public and private interests. This equilibrium is termed Pareto efficient.

There is perhaps no other concept which has acquired as firm a place in the paradigm of conventional economics as Pareto efficiency. The word equity is normally not mentioned explicitly within this paradigm; it is implicitly assumed that Pareto efficient is also the most equitable. 10 Thus equity became defined in terms of the Pareto optimum rather than the normative goals. Every socially-steered programme for change must pass the test of Pareto optimum - making at least one person better off without making anyone worse off. According to John Rawls, one must never act solely to increase general happiness, if in doing so one makes any particular person unhappy. 11 Since economic policies do not in general make some people better off without making anyone worse off, what Pareto optimum did achieve in reality was a near-paralysis of policy-making, by leading, in the words of Solo, "to inaction, to nonchoice, to drifting." Charles Schultze has, therefore, called the Pareto optimum as the "do no direct harm" principle - the precept that government actions must never harm anyone directly. He argues that this principle is a major reason why sensible economic reforms rarely prevail in the political arena.³ It also deprived theoretical discussions and policy prescriptions of a proper direction and perspective.

_

¹⁰There is no doubt that a number of economists do not support this view. It is however a logical outcome of the belief in the efficacy of market forces, and economists like J. B. Clark felt that factor incomes in the real world closely approximated the marginal product and its value (See Stigler, 1941). Friedman very clearly states: "However, we might wish it otherwise, it simply is not possible to use prices to transmit information and provide an incentive to act on that information without using prices also to affect, even if not completely determine, the distribution of income". (Milton and Rose Friedman, 1980, p.23.

¹¹Rawls, 1958.

¹²Solo, 1981, p.38; see also Sen, 1987, p.32. ¹³Schultz, 1957, Chapter 4

Thus the terms efficiency and equity, as defined within the paradigm of conventional economics, were related to Pareto efficiency and did not necessarily have a direct relationship with the normative goals. The ceteris paribus clause ruled out the possibility of several equilibria over time and space, only one of which may probably be consistent with the normative goals. This led to the implicit assumption that every market equilibrium was a Pareto optimum and would lead to the realization of normative goals, at least in the long-run, as a necessary concomitant of efficiency and equity brought about by the competitive equilibrium. Hence, economics became "an equilibrium apologia for existing economic arrangements, 14 and led to the belief that any outside intervention to change the status quo would necessarily lead to results which were less efficient and less equitable. The only acceptable way to change the status quo was within the framework of Pareto optimality.

THE BACKGROUND CONDITIONS

Keynes effectively demolished the belief that every market equilibrium was consistent with full employment. Since full employment is only one of the normative goals, it is important to see whether it is possible for every market equilibrium to be in harmony with the other normative goals. Such harmony may be expected to prevail, given the complete freedom on the part of individuals to pursue their self-interest and the absence of a socially-agreed moral filter, if certain background conditions were satisfied. Some of the most indispensable of these conditions are: (a) harmony between individual preferences and social interest; (b) equal distribution of income and wealth; (c) reflection of the urgency of wants by prices; and (d) perfect competition.

Adam Smith assumed that condition (a) was automatically satisfied in a competitive free-market economy, and this assumption has become a part of the economics paradigm. However, while there is undoubtedly a harmony between individual and social interests in some cases, there is also a conflict in other cases. It is the possibility of this

t4 Hahn, 1970.

conflict which may make the realization of normative goals difficult unless the conflict is removed. This may be better appreciated if one were to examine the need for reducing domestic absorption (aggregate consumption and investment by both the public and the private sectors) to remove the macroeconomic imbalances that a number of countries are now encountering. If the effect on normative goals was to be disregarded, then the market strategy may perhaps be the most effective way of reducing domestic absorption. However, given the prevailing high levels of unemployment, it may not be possible to satisfy the imperative of full employment without accelerating investment and growth. Hence, consumption may perhaps be the primary component of domestic absorption that may have to be reduced. Moreover, if the goal of need-fulfillment is also not to be compromised, then it may not be desirable to reduce the consumption of all goods and services. It may be argued that social interest would be served better if the consumption of status symbols and other consumers' goods that do not necessarily fulfill a need or reduce a hardship were curtailed.

Such a distinction between different goods on the basis of normative goals may not, however. be possible or acceptable within the paradigm of conventional economics. This is because conventional economics does not allow the passing of any judgment on individual preferences and relies primarily on choice through the market to determine the individual preferences that may or may not be satisfied. Any criteria other than prices and the ability to pay would involve interpersonal utility comparisons and value judgments and also violate the condition of Pareto optimality by requiring the rich to forego, in the interest of investment and need-fulfillment, something that they would prefer to have as individuals. It is not, however, certain whether choice through the market would help reduce the different components of domestic absorption in a manner that would be in conformity with normative goals.

Similarly, one could argue that preventing the pollution of a country's rivers was in the interest of social well-being. The market paradigm, however, leads one to argue that pollution is primarily a consequence of the misallocation of resources that results from the failure

of the market brought about by the divergence between private and social costs. However, any measure to internalize the externality (making the social cost of pollution enter private costs), may not only require value judgments but also violate the condition of Pareto optimality by making the consumers and producers of that product worse off through a higher price and lower profit, even though it would make the society as a whole better off. If social costs were to be entered into private costs in this case, then why shouldn't the social costs resulting from lack of need-fulfillment, unemployment, inequitable distribution, and economic instability also be taken into account? May one stop here to also ask why conventional economics does not hesitate to make some value judgments but abstains from making others?

Satisfaction of condition (b), equal distribution of income and wealth, would give all consumers an equal weight in influencing the decision-making process of the market. Producers, being assumed to be passive suppliers, would automatically fall in line. Thus, assuming that everyone would give priority to need-fulfillment, there would be no distortion in resource allocation against need-fulfillment. However, since there are substantial inequalities of income and wealth and since the rich are also able to have a far greater access to credit, they have the ability to buy whatever they wish at the prevailing prices. Primary reliance on prices may not create any significant dent in their demand for status symbols and other inessential and unproductive goods and services. They may tend to divert scarce national resources, by the sheer weight of their votes, into products which may tend to command a lower priority on a social preference scale which has general need fulfillment as one of its primary objectives.

The value-neutral price system may not even be concerned with how many votes an individual has and how he uses them. It evaluates the urgency of wants of different consumers on the basis of their ability to pay the price. However, although the urgency for milk may be the same for all children, irrespective of whether they were poor or rich, the number of dollar votes that a poor family is able to cast for milk is not the same as those that a rich family is able to cast for status symbols. If the ability to pay prices does not necessarily reflect the urgency of wants,

condition (c) does not get satisfied. Hence Arthur Okun has rightly observed that markets tend to "award prizes that allow the big winners to feed their pets better than the losers can feed their children."¹⁵

Coming now to condition (d), it is well-recognized that even though perfectly competitive markets are a theoretical construct of great analytical value, they constitute an unrealized dream in the real world, and are likely to remain so in the future. The innumerable imperfections that exist in the market thwart the efficient operation of market forces and produce deviations from ideally competitive marginal cost pricing, thus leading to prices that do not reflect real costs or benefits. Hence, while prices may not, by themselves, be capable of bringing about a socially-desired allocation and distribution of resources, they may tend to be more so if they do not even reflect real costs and benefits.

Since no real world market is likely to satisfy the background conditions even approximately,¹⁶ there is a considerable distortion in the expression of priorities in the market place. "¹⁷ This introduces a built-in bias against the realization of normative goals if reliance is placed primarily on prices for the allocation and distribution of resources.

THE INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN MICROECONOMICS AND MACROECONOMICS

Conventional economics has thus become engulfed into self-contradictory positions. This is because of, using Kuhn's terminology, ¹⁸ the "scientific revolution" brought about by the shift from a religious to a secularist paradigm. The secularist paradigm has led to an excessive commitment to neutrality between ends, abstinence from value judgments, and choice primarily through the market. Nevertheless, the commitment to the normative goals of the previous religious worldview

16 Brittan, 1985, p.16.

¹⁵ Okun, 1975, p.11.

¹⁷Tawney, 1948, p.12. ¹⁸Kuhn, 1970.

continues. If the goals had also been derived from the secularist world view, there might perhaps have been no inconsistency. However, the adoption of the goals of a religious worldview in the face of an unavoidable resource constraint does not permit excessive individual freedom enshrined in the secularist paradigm. One of the primary functions of values, which the religious worldview provides and obligates its followers to abide by, is to facilitate the use of scarce resources in conformity with the needs of goal realization. The market is by itself unable to do this - it cannot discriminate between the various uses of resources on the basis of their contribution to normative goals. Dependence primarily on individual preferences and prices for allocating and distributing resources seems to work against the realization of humanitarian goals in a secularist paradigm if the background conditions are not satisfied. This may be one of the major reasons why, in spite of living beyond means and the macroeconomic imbalances resulting from this, the needs of a substantial part of the population remain unfulfilled. There is also inadequate saving, investment, employment, and growth.

What conventional microeconomics should have done is to take the macroeconomic goals derived from the religious worldview as its starting point, and to indicate the individual and firm behaviour that would be consistent with these goals. This has not been done. Hence, there does not exist a clear link between the goals of conventional macroeconomics and the analytical framework developed by its microeconomics. Lucas and Sargent have thus rightly pointed out that "since its inception, macroeconomics has been criticized for its lack of foundations in microeconomic and general equilibrium theory." Arrow also considers the absence of this link as "one of the major scandals of current price theory." In a market economy, where the government's role is expected to be limited, if the microeconomic analysis is also not conducive to goal-realization, the goals hang in the air without any logistic support.

¹⁹Lucas and Sargent, 1979, p.4.

²⁰Kenneth Arrow, 1967, p.734. See also, Peter Howitt, p.273.

Positive economics and normative goals are hence mutually inconsistent and cannot coexist harmoniously in the same analytical framework or what Lakatos calls, "scientific research programme". However, instead of trying to resolve this conflict between its paradigm and its nonnative goals and reforming its assumptions and logical structure accordingly to enable it to play a more effective role in policy formulation and goal realization, conventional economics has moved more and more in the direction of greater mathematical elegance. This has not only made it more abstract and difficult but also of little relevance to the policy maker who is answerable to his electorate for the realization of normative goals. The accepted wisdom of neoclassical economics is therefore being increasingly questioned and, as Blaug has rightly stated, "there are growing numbers who suspect that all is not well in the house that economics has built". A number of economists have even emphasized the need for a new paradigm. However, the form that the new paradigm might take is as yet incompletely articulated.

This brings us to a discussion of the paradigm, goals and method of Islamic economics.

²¹Lakatos, 1974.

²²Blaug, 1980, p.xiii.

²³ See for example, Balogh, 1982; Bell and Kristol. 1981; Dopfer, 1976.

PART II

ISLAMIC ECONOMICS

THE PARADIGM

Islamic economics is based on a paradigm which has socio-economic justice as its primary objective (Qur'an. 57:25).²⁴ This objective takes its roots in the belief that human beings are the vicegerents of the One God, Who is the Creator of the Universe and everything in it. They are brothers unto each other and all resources at their disposal are a *trust* from Him to be used in a *just* manner for the well-being of *all* (repeat *all*). They are accountable to Him in the Hereafter and will be rewarded or punished for how they acquire and use these resources.

Unlike the secularist market paradigm, human well-being is not considered to be dependent primarily on maximizing wealth and consumption; it requires a balanced satisfaction of both the material and the spiritual needs of the human personality. The spiritual need is not satisfied merely by offering prayers; it also requires the moulding of individual and social behaviour in accordance with the *Shari'ah* (Islamic teachings), which is designed to ensure the realization of the *maqasid al- Shari'ah* (the goals of the *Shari'ah* hereafter referred to as the *maqasid*), two of the most important of which are socio-economic justice and the well-being of all God's creatures. Negligence of either the spiritual or the material needs would frustrate the realization of true well-being and exacerbate the symptoms of anomie, such as frustration, crime, alcoholism, drug addiction, divorce, mental illness and suicide, all

²⁴For some details related to the paradigm see. Chapra, 1992, pp. 201-13.

²⁵For a brief discussion of the *maqasid*, see Chapra, 1992, pp. 7-9. There has been a substantial discussion of the *maqasid* in the *fiqh* literature, some of the most prominent exponents being: al-Matridi (d.333/944), at-Shashi (d.365/975), al Baqillani (d.403/1012), al-Juwayni (d.478/1085), al-Ghazali (d.505/1111), al-Razi (d.606/1209), al-'Amidi (d.631/1234). 'Izz al-Din 'Abd al-Salam (d.660/262), Ibn Taymiyyah (d.728/1327), and al-Shatibi (d.790/1388). For a modern discussion of these, see: al-Raysuni, 1992, pp. 25-55; Nyazee. 1994, pp. 89-268; and Masud, 1977

indicating lack of inner contentment in the life of individuals. Within this paradigm, more may not necessarily be better than less under all circumstances, as conventional economics would have us believe. Much would depend on how the additional wealth is acquired, who uses it and how, and what is the impact of this increase on the overall well-being of society. More may be better than less, if the increase can be attained without weakening the moral fibre of society, raising anomie, and harming the ecological balance.

In spite of its emphasis on morals, Islam does not recognize any watertight distinction between the material and the spiritual. All human effort, irrespective of whether it is for 'material', 'social', 'educational', or 'scientific' goals, is spiritual in character as long as it conforms to the value system of Islam. Working hard for the material well-being of one's own self, family and society is as spiritual as the offering of prayers, provided that the material effort is guided by moral values and does not take the individual away from the fulfillment of his social and spiritual obligations. Ideal behaviour within the framework of this paradigm does not thus mean self-denial; it only means pursuing one's self-interest within the constraint of social interest by passing all claims on scarce resources through the filter of moral values. These values constitute an inseparable part of the Shari'ah and were continually provided to all people at different times in history, by a chain of God's Messengers (who were all human beings), including Abraham, Moses, Jesus and Muhammad, the last of them. Thus, according to Islam, there is a continuity and similarity in the value system of all revealed religions to the extent to which the message has not been lost or distorted over the ages.

It is presumed within this paradigm that morally-oriented individual behaviour in an appropriate socio-economic and political environment would help realize socio-economic justice and overall human well-being, just as it is presumed within the market system's paradigm that self-interested behaviour in a competitive market would ensure social interest. However, while mainstream economics assumes the prevalence of self-interested behaviour on the part of all individuals, Islam does not assume the prevalence of ideal behaviour. It adopts the more realistic position that, while some people may normally act in a purely ideal or

self-interested manner, the behaviour of most people may tend to be anywhere between the two extremes. However, since ideal behaviour is considered to be more conducive to goal realization, Islam tries to bring individual behaviour as close to the ideal as possible. This it does not do by coercion and regimentation. It rather tries to create an enabling environment through social engineering based on moral values, effective motivating system, and socio-economic reform. It also emphasizes the building of enabling institutions, ²⁶ and the playing of an effective goal-oriented role by the government.

Two Levels of Filtering

The necessity of using the moral filter in this paradigm for allocation and distribution of resources does not imply a rejection of the important role played by prices and markets. The moral filter only complements the market mechanism by making the allocation and distribution of resources subject to a double layer of filters. The first (moral) filter attacks the problem of unlimited claims on resources at the very source - the inner consciousness of individuals - by changing their preference scale in keeping with the demands of normative goals. Claims on resources are passed through this filter before they are exposed to the second filter of market prices.

The moral filter is needed because harmony does not necessarily exist between self-interest and social interest, as erroneously assumed by conventional economics. The moral filter tries to create such harmony by changing individual preferences in accordance with social priorities and eliminating or minimizing the use of resources for purposes that do not contribute to the realization of normative goals. If claims on resources are then passed through the second filter of market prices, the price filter may be more effective in creating a market equilibrium that is consistent with normative goals. This may be more so if financial intermediation is

²⁶Institutions are defined here as divinely ordained or humanly devised constraints that, according to North, "structure human interaction. They are made up of formal constraints (e.g. rules, laws. constitutions), informal constraints (e.g. norms of behaviour, conventions. self-imposed codes of conduct and their enforcement characteristics". (North. 1994, p. 360).

also restructured in conformity with the Islamic value system so as to play a complementary role.²⁷ The influence that wealth and power are able to exercise in the allocation and distribution of resources may then be substantially reduced. The moral filter would tend to minimize the built-in bias that the absence of background conditions creates in the allocation of resources against the realization of normative goals.

The Problem of Motivation

The question, however. is that even if a socially-accepted moral filter is available, what would motivate individuals, particularly the rich and the powerful, to pass their claims through it, if this hurts their self-interest? It may be unrealistic to expect a rational person to knowingly act against his self-interest. Moreover, the pursuit of self-interest is not necessarily bad. It is rather indispensable for realizing efficiency and development. It becomes undesirable only if it crosses certain limits that frustrate the realization of normative goals. How does Islam induce individuals to pursue their self-interest within the bounds of social interest in situations where there is a conflict between self-interest and social interest?

Islam tries to accomplish this task by giving self-interest a longer-term perspective - stretching it beyond the span of this world to the Hereafter. While an individual's self-interest may be served in this world by being selfish in the use of resources, his interest in the Hereafter cannot be served except by fulfilling his social obligations. It is this longer-term perspective of self-interest, along with the individual's accountability before the Supreme Being and the reward and punishment in the Hereafter, which has the potential of motivating individuals to voluntarily hold their claims on resources within the limits of general well-being, and thus creating harmony between self-interest and social interest even where the two are in conflict.

25

²⁷ Chapra, 1985 and 1992.

Socio-economic Restructuring

Both the filter mechanism and the motivating system may become blunted if the socio-economic environment is not geared to goal realization. Hence the first two ingredients of the strategy need to be reinforced by a third ingredient - socioeconomic and financial restructuring - to create a proper socio-economic environment. Such an environment may be created by properly educating the public, creating an effective framework of checks and balances, and reforming the existing socioeconomic, legal and political institutions or building new ones.²⁸ Congregational prayers, fasting in Ramadan, pilgrimage and zakat are a part, but not the whole, of the Islamic programme to create such an environment. They tend to make the individuals and groups conscious of their social obligations and more motivated towards the observance of values even when these tend to hurt their short-term self-interest. The existence of a proper enabling environment may help complement the price system in creating greater efficiency in the use of human and material resources, promoting simple living, and reducing wasteful and conspicuous consumption. This may help realize higher saving, investment, employment and growth. The absence of such restructuring may not only frustrate goal realization, but also exacerbate the existing macroeconomic and external imbalances through greater resort to deficit financing, credit expansion, and external debt.

The Role of the State

Such a comprehensive socio-economic restructuring designed to help in the actualization of desired goals and minimizing the existing imbalances may not be possible without the playing of an active role in the economy by the state.²⁹ This is because, even in a morally-charged environment, it may be possible for individuals to be simply unaware of

²⁸For a greater discussion of the needed socio-economic and financial restructuring and its policy implications, see Chapters 7-11 of Chapra, 1992.

²⁹See Chapra, 1979, for a more detailed discussion of the obligations, strategy and functions of the Islamic state.

the urgent and unsatisfied needs of others or to be oblivious to the problems of scarcity and to social priorities in resource use. Under such conditions the double layer of filters suggested above, even though indispensable, may not be sufficient.

The Islamic state may, therefore, have to play an effective role in the economy. It may have to go beyond the generally recognized roles of providing internal and external security and removing market imperfections and market failure. It may have to help create a proper environment for removing injustice in all different forms and for realizing the society's normative goals. This may have to be done without resorting to regimentation and the use of force, or the owning and operating of a substantial part of the economy. The state may have to determine social priorities in the use of resources and to educate, motivate and help the private sector to play a role which is consistent with goal realization. This it may accomplish by helping internalize moral values among individuals, accelerating social, institutional and political reform, and providing incentives and facilities. It may have to create a proper framework for the interaction of human beings, values, institutions, and markets for the realization of goals without excessive government intervention.

The role of the state in an Islamic economy is not, however, in the nature of an 'intervention', which is an unsavoury term and smacks of an underlying commitment to laissez-faire capitalism. It is also not in the nature of the secularist welfare state which, through its anathema to value judgments, accentuates claims on resources and leads to macroeconomic imbalances. It is also not in the nature of collectivisation and regimentation, which suppress freedom and sap individual initiative and enterprise. It is, rather, a positive role - a moral obligation to perform a mission in compliance with the divinely-bestowed filter mechanism - to help keep the economic train on the agreed track and to prevent its diversion by powerful vested interests. The test of the Islamic state would lie in its performing the desired role effectively in a way that allows maximum possible freedom and initiative for the private sector. The greater the motivation people have in implementing Islamic values, and the more effective socio-economic institutions and financial intermediation are in creating the proper environment for a just

equilibrium between resources and claims, the lesser will be the role that the state may be required to play in realizing its desired goals. Moreover, the greater the accountability of the political leadership before the people, and the greater the freedom of expression and the success of the news media and the courts in exposing and penalizing inequities and corruption, the more effective the Islamic state may be in fulfilling its obligations.

REDEFINING EFFICIENCY AND EQUITY

The total shift in paradigm should enable us to move away from the abstract mainstream definition of efficiency and equity in terms of Pareto optimality to a more down-to-earth definition in conformity with the normative goals.³⁰ An economy may be said to have attained optimum efficiency if it has been able to employ the total potential of its scarce human and material resources in such a way that the maximum feasible quantity of need-satisfying goods and services has been produced with a reasonable degree of economic stability and a sustainable rate of future growth. The test of such efficiency lies in the inability to attain a socially more acceptable result without creating prolonged macroeconomic imbalances, and without unduly upsetting the ecological balance. An economy may be said to have attained optimum equity if the goods and services produced are distributed in such a way that the needs of all individuals are adequately satisfied and there is an equitable distribution of income and wealth, without adversely affecting the motivation for work, saving, investment and enterprise.

SOCIALLY ACCEPTABLE MARKET EQUILIBRIUM

Such a redefinition of efficiency and equity may rule out the possibility of considering every market equilibrium as optimum and acceptable. Only that market equilibrium may be considered to be optimum and acceptable which leads to the actualization of normative goals. If a market equilibrium of this quality does not get established, then this is because of distortions which frustrate its realization. The only

^{30.} see Chapra, 1992, p.3.

distortions that conventional economics recognizes are those that arise from market imperfections and market failure. To these may be added the distortions resulting from consumers' tastes and preferences, socio-economic institutions, and individual and group behaviour not being in conformity with what is necessary to realize normative goals. These distortions may have to be removed to create an enabling environment for goal realization.

If consumer tastes and preferences and socio-economic institutions need to be reformed to create a harmony between individual and social interests, then the 'sovereign' consumer may not remain sovereign. It may not be realistic to talk of goal realization and absolute consumer sovereignty at the same time: the two are self-contradictory and may not be entertained simultaneously. A balance needs to be struck between the two. Since coercion is also ruled out, then the injection of a moral dimension into the market system may perhaps be the best way to create a voluntary restraint on consumer sovereignty and thus bring about harmony between self-interest and social interest. It may not be desirable to be unduly concerned about this restriction of individual choice. If advertising is considered acceptable even though it tends to influence individual choice in the interest of private profit, then there seems to be no reason to oppose the education of the individual to mould his preferences and behaviour in conformity with moral values willingly accepted by him in the interest of social well-being.

Individual tastes and preferences and socio-economic and political institutions which influence individual behaviour cannot then remain exogenous; they need to be made a part of the economic model. If individuals do not behave the way they need to for goal realization, then they may have to be educated and motivated properly, and the socio-economic and political institutions that influence their behaviour may have to be reformed. Once the human being and the institutions that affect his behaviour, behave in a manner that is conducive to goal realization, and the government also plays an important role in creating a proper environment, the entire burden of resource allocation and distribution may not fall on prices and markets alone. These have, nevertheless, to play an important role.

ISLAMIC ECONOMICS DEFINED

In keeping with a prayer of the Prophet, may the peace and the blessings of God be on him, seeking the refuge of God from knowledge that is of no benefit,³¹ the primary function of Islamic economics, like that of any other body of knowledge, should be the realization of human well-being through the actualization of the *maqasid*. Within this perspective Islamic economics may be defined as that branch of knowledge which helps realize human well-being through an allocation and distribution of scarce resources that is in conformity with Islamic teachings without unduly curbing individual freedom or creating continued macroeconomic and ecological imbalances.³²

S. M. Hasanuz Zaman.

"Islamic economics is the knowledge and application of injunctions and rules of the *Shari'ah* that prevent injustice in the acquisition and disposal of material resources in order to provide satisfaction to human beings and enable them to perform their obligations to Allah and the society." (Hasanuzzaman, 1984, p.52).

M. A. Mannan

"Islamic economics is a social science which studies the economic problems of a people imbued with the values of Islam." (Mannan, 1986, p. 18).

Khurshid Ahmad

Islamic economics is "a systematic effort to try to understand the economic problem and man's behaviour in relation to that problem from an Islamic perspective." (Ahmad, 1992, p. 19).

M. Nejatullah Siddiqi

Islamic economics is "the Muslim thinkers' response to the economic challenges of their times. In this endeavour they were aided by the Qur'an and the Sunnah as well as by reason and experience." (Siddiqi, 1992, p. 69).

³¹From Alias ibn Malik, reported as *hadith sahih on* the authority of Ahmad, ibn Habban, and Hakim by al-Suyuti in his *al-Jami'al-Saghir*. vol. 1, p. 56.

³-Islamic economics has been defined differently by different scholars. Some of these definitions, arranged chronologically, are:

Hence, while the "classics looked at the economic system primarily from the production angle", and "the catallactists [marginalists] looked at it primarily from the side of exchange", ³³ Islamic economics may have to look at it from the point of view of goal realization. It may accordingly have to study all those factors that affect the realization of these goals through their impact on the allocation and distribution of resources. Since human beings constitute the ends of, as well as the most crucial factor influencing the allocation and distribution of resources, they may have to become, along with the values and institutions (social, economic and political) that influence their behaviour, a part of the economic model and receive due attention. ³⁴ This may not allow economics to concentrate only on the nature of the market and prices in its analysis and to take human behaviour as given. It may also have to take into account all the relevant aspects of human behaviour and other factors that affect allocation and distribution of resources and thereby human well-being.

If economics takes into account the whole relevant spectrum of human behaviour, then it may not be able to confine itself merely to self-interested behaviour on the part of individuals. Individuals do not always behave in a purely self-interested manner. Similarly, they do not always behave in an ideal or altruistic manner. Their behaviour generally tends to fluctuate between these two extremes.³⁸ This is in principle the

M. Akram Khan

"Islamic economics aims at the study of human *falah* [well-being] achieved by organizing the resources of the earth on the basis of cooperation and participation." (Khan, 1994, p. 33).

Syed Nawab Haider Naqvi

"Islamic economics is the representative Muslim's behaviour in a typical Muslim society". (Naqvi, 1994, p. 13).

³³Hicks, 1976, p. 212.

³⁴For the significance of the human factor in economics, see El-Ghazali, 1994.

³⁵According to the Qur'an, human beings have the freedom and the ability to act rightly as well as wrongly. They are, therefore, capable of either rising to great spiritual heights or of falling to the lowest immorality. (See al-Qur'an, 91:8, 92:4 and 95: 4-8; see also the notes of Muhammad Asad on these verses.

same as markets, which may not be either perfectly competitive or perfectly monopolistic. Therefore, while conventional economics studies consumer and firm behaviour under perfect competition as well as under imperfect competition and monopoly, there seems to be no reason why the impact of self-interested as well as ideal behaviour may also not be studied. It may be necessary to analyze the effect of both of these types of behaviour on the allocation and distribution of resources. The two may together give a more realistic picture and not only improve predictability, but also help in the formulation of effective policies for goal realization. Whether the behaviour of a majority of individuals in a given society tends to be most of the time closer to the self-interested or the ideal pattern may depend on a number of factors, some of which are: whether that society is charged by the social-Darwinist principle of survival of the fittest or the moral imperative of mutual cooperation and well-being of all, whether a proper enabling environment exists or not, and whether the government plays an effective educational role in influencing individual and firm behaviour.

The task that Islamic economics may need to perform is, therefore, significantly greater than that of conventional economics. Its first task may be to study the actual behaviour of individuals and groups, firms, markets, and governments. This is what conventional economics tries to do, but has been unable to do adequately because of its assumption of self-interested behaviour, defining self-interest in its peculiar this-worldly sense of maximizing material wealth and want satisfaction, as already discussed. Actual behaviour may or may not be necessarily self-interested. Therefore, the first task of Islamic economics is to study human behaviour as it actually is, without restricting itself to only a specific aspect of it through an unrealistic assumption. Moreover, actual behaviour may or may not be conducive to goal realization. Therefore, the second task of Islamic economics is to indicate the kind of behaviour that is needed for goal realization. Since moral values are by their very nature oriented towards goal realization, Islamic economics needs to take into consideration Islamic values and institutions and

scientifically analyze their impact on goal realization. Thirdly, since there is a divergence between actual and ideal behaviour, Islamic economics must explain why the different economic agents do not behave the way they ought to. Fourthly, since one of the primary purposes of seeking knowledge is to help improve the human condition, Islamic economics must suggest measures which may help bring the behaviour of all market players that influence allocation and distribution of resources as close to the ideal as possible.

As far as analysis on the basis of actual behaviour is concerned, Islamic economics may be able to benefit from the increasing volume of literature made available by conventional economics, particularly that on the tools of analysis. Moreover, now there is also available a considerable analysis on the basis of altruistic behaviour. There should be no qualms about using this analysis. Islamic economics may have to show its deftness at filling the gaps, particularly those in the second, third and fourth parts of the task. It may be able to do this more effectively if it benefits from useful knowledge wherever it may be available.³⁶

METHODOLOGY

Linguistically, the term method refers to "following a path", or "the specification of steps which must be taken in a given order, to achieve a given end. The nature of the steps and the details of their specification depend on the end sought and on the variety of ways of achieving it."³⁷ Technically, it refers to "the technical procedures of a discipline" ^{.38} In the process, what methodology accomplishes is "to provide criteria for the acceptance and rejection of research programmes,

³⁶The Prophet, peace and blessings of God be on him, said: "Seek knowledge even though it may be in China because the seeking of knowledge is the duty of a Muslim." (Reported from Anas ibn Malik by Suyuti in his *al-Jami' al-Saghir* on the authority of al-Bayhaqi's *Shu'ab al-!man*. This is a weak *hadith*. Nevertheless, it is quoted here because it indicates the importance of acquiring knowledge irrespective of where it is available. This was in fact the practice of Muslims during their period of ascendance in the early centuries.

³⁷Caws, 1967, p.339. ³⁸Blaug, 1980, p.xi.

setting standards that will help us to discriminate between wheat and chaff" ^{.39} These technical procedures and the criteria for acceptance or rejection would of course depend, as caws has indicated above, on the end sought.

Since the end sought has been different - explanation, 40 prediction, 41 or persuasion, 42- there has been no clearcut answer to the question of methodology in economics in spite of a heated controversy on the subject. Before 1970, the literature on methodology was limited. However, after 1970 the literature has risen considerably, with a dramatic growth in the 1980s. 43 Nevertheless, the controversy continues. It seems however, that those who do not believe in the pursuit of any single given method seem to have the upper hand. Feyerabend has stated in an outspoken manner that "the idea that science can and should be run according to some fixed rules and that its rationality consists in agreement with such rules is unrealistic and vicious."44 According to Klamer, theoretical disagreements were not settled by accumulating empirical evidence. "Economics involves the art of persuasion. In the absence of uniform standards and clearcut empirical tests, economists have to rely on judgments, and they argue to render their judgments persuasive. This process leaves room for nonrational elements, such as personal commitment and style, and social discipline. 45 Caldwell's response has, therefore, rightly been methodological pluralism.⁴⁶

If the furthering of human well-being, rather than just explaining, predicting or persuading, is accepted as the goal of Islamic economics,

³⁹BIaug, 1980, p.264.

⁴⁰Nagel, 1961.

⁴¹Friedman, 1953.

⁴²McCloskey, 1986.

⁴³Mackhouse, 1994, p.10.

⁴⁴P. Feyerabend, "Against Method: Outline of an Anarchistic Theory of Knowledge", cited by Lawrence Boland, Scientific Thinking Without Scientific Method," in Backhouse, 1994, p.54.

⁴⁵Klamer, 1984, p.234.

⁴⁶Caldwell, 1982, pp.243-7.

then its task being much greater and harder than that of conventional economics, its methodology may also have to be fit for the task. It may then he futile to look for a single method for accepting or rejecting hypotheses. Methodological pluralism may perhaps be the most suitable, and this is probably the method which seems to have been preferred by Muslim scholars in the past. Siddiqi has rightly indicated that "Islamic tradition in economics has been free of formalism, focusing on meaning and purpose with a flexible methodology."

The first step that needs to be taken to accept or reject a given hypothesis is to see whether it fits within the logical structure of the Islamic paradigm, which is defined by the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*. However, since everything has not been spelt out in the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*, there is a great room for logical reasoning and human judgment or *ijtihad* without coming into conflict with the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*. Resort to the Qur'an and the *Sunnah* as the first step in the methodology for accepting or rejecting hypotheses is inevitable because "Islamic economics begins with an understanding of divinely-ordained ends and values and cannot be conceived without them". ⁴⁸ Instead of shying away from them under the cloak of *wertfreiheit*, economists may be able to make a valuable contribution by evaluating their hypotheses against the logical structure of the *Shari'ah*.

This would lead to the second important step of the methodology - to evaluate the hypotheses through logical reasoning in the light of the rationale behind the teachings of the *Shari'ah*. A substantial use of this has been made in Islamic literature. Shah Waliyullah's book, *Hujjatullah al-Balighah is* an effort to show that there is a strong rationale behind every value or institution suggested by the *Shari'ah*.

A third step in the methodology may have to be the testing of the various hypotheses so derived, to the extent feasible, against historical records and statistical data available for present as well as past Muslim

⁴⁷Siddiqi, 1988. p.155.

⁴⁸Siddiqi, 1988, p.168.

and non-Muslim societies. Dr. Naqvi has rightly emphasized that Muslim economists "should be ready to subject their theories to the toughest tests, and to discard 'old' theories once enough contrary evidence a priori or empirical, becomes available. The aim should be *scientific progress in* Islamic economics."

It is the testing of hypotheses against facts which will help establish theory which is not empty but rather helpful in the realization of the *maqasid*. It will also help establish the separate identify of Islamic economics from the moral and philosophical literature of Islam. Testing may not, however, be possible without adequate historical and statistical data on all relevant variables as well as appropriate techniques of testing. Islamic economics need not hesitate to use the techniques of testing and the tools of analysis developed by conventional economics and other social sciences. All of these may not necessarily have their roots in the secularist paradigm. Islamic economics may also adopt the theories of conventional economics that have become a part of the conventional wisdom, if these theories are not in conflict with the logical structure of the Islamic worldview.

The Qur'an and the *Sunnah* have both specified some of the major variables on which the well-being or misery of mankind depends. This has been done through a cause and effect relationship in the nature of, if A then B, where A is the needed norm or institution and B is the contribution that A may make to the present and the future well-being of all living creatures on earth, particularly human beings. Just as the effort to explain actual phenomena results in hypotheses, the relationship between the *maqasid* and the different ways of individual and group behaviour as well as filtering, motivation, restructuring and government role indicated in the Qur'an and the *Sunnah* could also yield worthwhile hypotheses. All such relationships or hypotheses should be tested to the extent feasible. Such testing may also help us understand the texts (nusus) of the Qur'an and the Sunnah better and lead to a greater convergence of

⁴⁹Naqvi, 1994, p.xxi; italics are in the original.

⁵⁰. For the two different views on the subject, see Zarga, 1986, pp. 56-57

ideas by reducing the number of alternative interpretations. However, revelation need not be the only source of establishing such ideal relationships. The experience of Muslim as well as non-Muslim societies as well as logical deduction may also be a source.

Testing of hypotheses, even when derived from the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*, has been an integral part of the Islamic tradition. The Qur'an itself emphasizes such testing. Even the hypothesis that "the Qur'an is the word of God", is falsifiable because the Qur'an has itself opened it to falsification by challenging mankind to produce something equivalent in terms of its linguistic beauty, force of logic, and quality of teachings.⁵¹ Even after 1400 years, the challenge has not been met with respect to even one of its distinctive characteristics, and the hypothesis remains unfalsified. Moreover, the Qur'an is full of verses that induce human beings to look at the historical record of past civilizations which uphold the truth or positiveness of its normative theories. The Qur'an says, "Go, then, around the world and see the ultimate fate of those who rejected the Truth" (3:137). This verse as well as a number of other verses⁵² are a clear indication that the Qur'an considers its normative theories to be testable against facts.

Scholars like Ibn Khaldun (d. 808/1406) tried to do this. They rightly believed that it was possible to test the cause and effect relationship even in social sciences by resort to historical evidence.⁵³ He asserted that "the past resembles the present just as water resembles water" ⁵⁴ He was probably the first to state that "social phenomena seem to obey laws which, while not as absolute as those governing natural phenomena, are sufficiently constant to cause social events to follow regular, well-defined patterns and sequences. Hence, a grasp of these laws enables the sociologist to understand the trend of events around

⁵¹ See the Qur'an, 2:23, 10:38, 11:15 and 17:88.

⁵²See, for example, 6:11, 7: 84 and 86, 7:128, 10: 39, 12:109, 27:51, 35:44, 40:21, 47:10, 65:9

⁵³Ibn Khaldun, Muqaddimah, pp. 1 and 2.

⁵⁴*Ibid.*, p.10.

him". ⁵⁵ He further believed that "these laws can be discovered by gathering a large number of facts from records of past events and observation of present events" .56

Shah Waliyullah (d. 1176/1762) reached the same conclusion by arguing that the cause and effect relationship that God has established in the universe as well as human life is a manifestation of His Wisdom. It shows that He does not operate arbitrarily. He rather acts in a methodical and systematic manner that befits His Wisdom. This idea is supported by him by means of a number of illustrations and by citing the Qur'anic verse, "And you will never find a change in God's *Sunnah* or set pattern" (Qur'an, 33:62, 35:43 and 48:23)⁵⁷ which shows the irreversibility of the cause and effect relationship established by God. This Wisdom is reflected in all the normative theories of the *Shari 'ah*, which are addressed to the realization of human well-being.⁵⁸ He also uses this logic to rationalize the animosity of Islam towards astrology and magic because God has not given to stars and magical charms and spells the supernatural powers to undo the cause and effect relationship prevalent in natural phenomena and to cause harm or provide benefit to human beings.⁵⁹

A Word of Caution

The emphasis on testing need not be taken to imply a vote in favour of logical positivism, which is not only an "extreme form of empiricism", ⁶⁰ but also "worldly, secular, antitheological, and antimetaphysical". It requires every single statement to be positive and

⁵⁵lssawi, 1950, p.7.

⁵⁶Ibid., p.8.

⁵⁷See also Abdullah Yusuf Ali's note to the verse 35:43.

⁵⁸Shah Waliyullah, 1992, vol.1, p.34.

⁵⁹Shah Waliyullah, 1992, vol. 1, pp. 62-66; see also the Chapter on magic in Ibn Khaldun, *Ai-Muqaddimah*, pp. 486-503.

⁶⁰Chalmers, 1982, p.xiii.

⁶¹Herbert Feigl, 1978, vol.14, p.877

testable.⁶² Islamic economics, is neither this-worldly and secular, nor can it require every statement to be positive and testable. Therefore, while pursuing the logical nexus between cause and effect, we must bear in mind two important points.

Firstly, human beings are subject to limitations and may not be able to explain or predict everything. We may be able to know only a "portion of the cause and effect relationships - led, as it were, by a pocket flashlight in a dark jungle". There are so many phenomena in our socio-economic life which may not be measurable or testable. If we remove them from our discussion, we may narrow the scope of economics and reduce its ability to cater to human well-being. All that Islamic economics may aspire to do is to test its normative as well as positive theories as much as possible by available statistical and historical data so that it remains in close touch with reality and does not get steeped in theoretical discussions that are of little relevance to the existing problems. Testing of theories will also enable it to explain and predict relatively better, and to suggest more confidently the needed policy measures to go from what 'is' to what 'ought to be'.

Secondly, we must also bear in mind the intrinsic belief of a Muslim that empirical observations may never conflict with and falsify the normative theories laid down by the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*. These are by their very nature unfalsifiable truths. There is, however, a great difference between saying that a hypothesis is not open to falsification and saying that the concerned hypothesis is open to falsification but it may not be possible to falsify it because of its firm basis. Any conflict between a Qur'anic hypothesis and the empirical observation may be because of misinterpretation of the hypothesis, ineffective implementation, or errors of observation. Moreover, Islamic economics would not consist merely of hypotheses derived from the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*. It would also have hypotheses laid down by fuqaha and other Muslim scholars as well as those derived from conventional economics, the researchers' own

⁶².Lipsey, 1989, p.19

⁶³1IT, 1989, p.337

deductions or inductions, and the experience of other cultures and countries. Such hypotheses may tend to be far more than those directly derived from the Qur'an and the *Sunnah*. All of these would be open to falsification. Hence it may not be rational to imply that Islamic economics may not be a science.

Even in conventional economics theories are not knocked out by a single piece of empirical evidence. 64 Why then should in be so in Islamic economics? We may ask with Blackhouse whether "any controversy with something really substantial at stake had ever beer settled for any appreciable length of time by means of econometrics." 65 There are so many fundamental concepts of conventional economics like the spontaneous harmony of interests, which are considered to be beyond verification and falsification. "The method of science is a mixture ... of logical construction and empirical observation, "66 and classical economists have always, accordingly, emphasized that "the conclusions of economics rest ultimately on postulates derived as much from the observable 'laws of production' as from subjective introspection'. 67 Islamic economics may have to take a middle ground between 'radical apriorism' and 'ultra-empiricism'.

Science, Unseen Objects and Value Judgments

Three important objections may, however, be raised here. Firstly, it may be argued that a substantial part of the Qur'an and the *Sunnah* deals with unseen objects like God, Hereafter, and peace of mind. These are not observable and cannot hence be made the bases of a science. This is not a valid objection because, even though these objects are themselves unseen, their impact on human behaviour and economic variables can be observed as much as that of the 'invisible hand' of market forces, or of 'preferences' and 'utilities', which are also unseen. What is important is

⁶⁴Backhouse, 1994, p.14.

⁶⁵Blackhouse, 1994, p.66.

⁶⁶Caws, 1967, vol.7, p.343.

⁶⁷Blaug, 1990, p.689

not whether the subject matter of these concepts is itself observable or not, but whether its impact on human behaviour is observable, and particularly so, if it helps realize the kind of equilibrium in the allocation and distribution of resources which is in conformity with humanitarian goals. It is now well-recognized that prices and profits are not the only variables that influence allocation and distribution of resources. If belief in God and the Hereafter can motivate consumers and producers to internalize moral values and moderate their pursuit of self-interest and thus facilitate the realization of the *maqasid*, then why shouldn't economists take this factor into account. Effective operation of the moral criteria in resource use may complement the price system in introducing greater efficiency and equity in the use of resources.

Secondly, it may be argued that the Qur'an and the Sunnah provide norms about how economic agents should behave and what policies should be adopted to realize the kind of well-being that Islam stands for. These involve value judgments and one of the reasons for the frowning of conventional economics upon value judgments is that these refer to how people ought to behave and cannot by definition be verified or falsified.⁶⁸ It is for this reason that positive economics has confined itself primarily to a discussion of how economic agents and economies actually function and what the consequences of policies are. This attitude is perhaps one of the primary reasons for the absence of a link between microeconomics and macroeconomics. Most of the macroeconomic goals are based on value judgments. If complementary value judgments are not permitted to determine the microeconomic behaviour of individuals and firms to bring it in harmony with goal realization, the goals may not be actualized. Mannan has rightly emphasized that "the normative and the positive are so interlinked that any attempt to separate them could be misleading and counter-productive" 69 The sharp distinction that mainstream economics tries to create between the positive and the nominative does not, therefore, seem to be rational.

⁶⁸Lipsey 1989, p.16, and Blaug, 1990, p.7.

⁶⁹Mannan, 1986, p.9.

Islam does not look at the normative as merely value judgments, which cannot be substantiated by empirical evidence. Every value or institution emphasized by the Qur'an and the *Sunnah is* essentially in the nature of a theoretical relationship between that value and human well-being even though the causal relationship or the *'illah* may not always be explicitly indicated. According to Islam, human beings ought to do what is morally right, not just because this is in keeping with the Divine Will, but also because this is the most beneficial for them and, therefore, the most rational way of behaving. Rational and morally-motivated conduct are thus considered synonymous. They both stand for behaviour which has proved to be ultimately in the interest of both the individual and the society.

Thirdly, it may also be argued that the theories adapted from the Qur'an and the *Sunnah* may not always be testable because of the wide gulf that now prevails in the Muslim world between the way the Muslims ought to behave and the way they actually do. The gap has, however, not always been wide. There have been periods in Islamic history when the Islamic ideals have been a reality in Muslim societies and the 'ought to be' has been an 'is', either totally or partially. Moreover, a number of norms and institutions prescribed by Islam are also a heritage of other cultures and civilizations and have been practised there. Testing may, therefore, be possible with the help of the historical records in Muslim as well as non-Muslim societies.

Realistic Assumptions

Assumptions play an important role in the formulation of hypotheses and, while it may be possible to make some correct predictions even when the fundamental assumptions are false, it may be desirable to start with realistic assumptions to get a better record of reliable predictions. Nevertheless, the generally accepted principle is that the basic assumptions underlining the structure, or hard core, of a science "must not be rejected or modified". They are "protected from falsification

⁷⁰See Shah Waliyllah's book, *Hujjat al-Allah al-Balighah* for a rational argument of this thesis

by a protective belt of auxiliary hypotheses, initial conditions, etc. "71 Accordingly, such assumptions "are not for testing". 72

It may not be too much to expect that at least all the fundamental assumptions of economics about human behaviour are tested, particularly those about the spontaneous harmony of interests, rationality,. and maximization, on which the whole structure of conventional economics is raised, to ensure that the whole edifice does not collapse if these assumptions are false. It seems strange for conventional economics to keep itself at a distance from metaphysical realities, which have not yet been proved to be false, and yet to consider it, in the footsteps of Friedman, a "positive advantage" to base its hypotheses and theories on assumptions which are known to be "descriptively false".

THE RISE OF ISLAMIC ECONOMICS

Islamic economics had been developing gradually as an interdisciplinary subject in the writings of Qur'an commentators, jurists, historians, and social, political and moral philosophers. A large number of scholars including Abu Yusuf (d. 182/798), al-Mas'udi (d.346/957), al-Mawardi (d. 450/1058), Ibn Hazm (d. al-Sarakhsi 456/1064), (d.483/1090),al-Tusi (d.485/1093),al-Ghazali (d.505/1111), Ibn Taymiyyah (d.728/1328), Ibn al-Ukhuwwah (d.729/1329), Ibn al-Qayyim (d. 751/1350), al-Shatibi (d. 790/1388), Ibn Khaldun (d.808/1406), al-Magrizi (d.845/1442), al-Dawwani (d.906/1501), and Shah Waliyullah (d. 1176/1762) made valuable contributions over the centuries. These contributions are spread over a vast literature covering different intellectual disciplines.⁷⁴ It was perhaps because of this interdisciplinary contribution that human well-being never got conceived as an isolated phenomenon dependent primarily on economic variables. It was seen as

⁷¹Chalmers, 1982, p.80.

⁷²Lin, 1976, p.16.

⁷³Friedman, 1953, p.14.

⁷⁴See Spengler 1963; Deshmogyi, 1965; Mirakhor, 1987; Siddigi, 1992; and Islahi, 1994, ror a brief account of some of these contributions.

the end-product of a number of economic as well as moral, intellectual, social, and political factors in such an integrated manner that it was not possible to realize overall human well-being without an optimum contribution from all. Justice occupied a pivotal place in this whole framework. This was to be expected because of its crucial importance within the Islamic paradigm.

These diverse contributions over the centuries seem to have reached their consummation in Ibn Khaldun's *Muqaddimah* or "Introduction to History". The *Muqaddimah* analyses the closely inter-related role of moral, political. economic, social and demographic factors in the well-being or misery of the people, which ultimately leads to the rise and fall of governments and civilizations. His analysis is not static and is not based on only economic variables. It is rather in the nature of socio-economic and political dynamics. The Muqaddimah contains a considerable discussion of economic principles, a significant part of which is undoubtedly Ibn Khaldun's original contribution to economic thought. However, he also deserves credit for a clearer and more elegant expression of the contributions made by his predecessors and contemporaries in the Muslim world. Ibn Khaldun's insight into some economic principles was so deep and far-sighted that a number of the theories propounded by him nearly six centuries ago could easily match some of the most modern theories on the subject.

Ibn Khaldun, however, lived at a time when the political and socioeconomic decline of the Muslim world was already underway. He rightly theorized that sciences progress only when a society is itself progressing.⁷⁵ This theory is clearly upheld by Muslim history. Sciences progressed rapidly in the Muslim world up to the fourth century Hijrah. The development continued at a decelerated pace for a few more centuries, tapering off gradually thereafter. Only once in a while there appeared a brilliant star on an otherwise unexciting firmament. Economics was no exception. It also continued to be in a state of limbo in the Muslim world. No major contributions were made after Ibn

⁷⁵Ihn Khaldun, *Muqaddimah*, p.434.

Khaldun except by a few isolated luminaries like al-Maqrizi, al-Dawwani and Shah Waliyullah.

Consequently, while conventional economics became a separate scientific discipline in the West in the 1890s after the publication of Alfred Marshall's great treatise, *Principles of Economics*, in 1890,⁷⁶ and continued to develop since then, Islamic economics remained primarily an integral part of the unified social and moral philosophy of Islam until the Second World War. The independence of most Muslim countries after the War and the need to develop their economies in the light of Islamic teachings has given boost to the development of Islamic economics.

However, the valuable contributions made by some scholars in their individual capacities, could not provide the thrust needed to establish the separate identity of the subject. It was the First International Conference on Islamic Economics held at Makkah in February 1976, which served as a catalyst at an international level and led to an exponential growth of literature on the subject. Dr. Muhamad Omar Zubair and Prof. Khurshid Ahmad played a pioneering role in the holding of this Conference as well as a number of other conferences and seminars that have helped provide momentum to the discipline. Dr. M. Nejatullah Siddiqi's survey article on Muslim economic thinking⁷⁷ presented at this Conference served as a foundation for discussions and a catalyst for later development of Islamic economics.

A number of institutions have also played a crucial role. The most important of these are: the Association of Muslim Social Scientists, U.S.A (established in 1972); the Islamic Foundation, Leicester, U.K. (1973); Islamic Economics Research Bureau, Dhaka, Bangladesh (1976); the Centre for Research in Islamic Economics at the King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah (1977); the International Institute of Islamic Thought, Herndon, Virginia, U.S.A (1981); the Islamic Research and Training

⁷⁶Schumpeter, 1954, p.21. According to Blaug (1985), economics became an academic discipline in the 1880s (p.3).

⁷⁷ Siddiqi, 1981.

Institute (IRTI) of the Islamic Development Bank (IDB) (1983); the International Institute of Islamic Economics, Islamabad (1983); the College (Kulliyyah) of Economics at the International Islamic University, Kuala Lumpur (1983);⁷⁸ and the International Association of Islamic Economics (1984). Out of these the Centre for Research in Islamic Economics at the King Abdul Aziz University and the Islamic Research and Training Institute at the IDB deserve a special credit for their outstanding contributions. The Centre's contribution has been already recognized by the IDB award in Islamic Economics in 1993.

Lag in the Development of Theory

Greater emphasis has, however, been laid so far on explaining what the ideal Islamic economic system is, how it differs from socialism and capitalism, and why it could better succeed in helping realize the humanitarian goals. Most of the discussion is of a normative nature - how all economic agents (individuals and households, firms, altruistic organizations, markets and governments) are expected to behave in the light of Islamic teachings. This has been accompanied by some sporadic historical data to show that the system has actually been in existence at different times in Muslim history and that this has produced positive results. This was natural, and in fact necessary. Economics is so closely related to the worldview and the economic system of a society that without clarity about the worldview and the economic system of Islam, Islamic economics may have perhaps groped in the dark for the direction in which to proceed.⁷⁹

By now the contours of the ideal Islamic economic system have become sufficiently clear. However, Islamic economics as a theoretically-and empirically-oriented discipline has not yet evolved significantly. There is little, in the words of Dr. Monzer Kahf, "on the mechanism of the functioning of this system. Even more scarce are the writings that

_

⁷⁸See, Yalcintas, 1986, pp.33-37, for more details.

⁷⁹In fact, according to Dr. Zarqa, Islamic economics is the 'economic system', on the one hand, and 'the economic analysis thereof', on the other' (Zarqa, 1986, p.52).

interrelate the different facets of the Islamic economic system and form one whole theoretical structure that is internally consistent and externally valid.".80 For this purpose Islamic economics needs to perform all the functions specified earlier. It should not only indicate the functional relationship between different variables to show how these variables interact with each other, but also analyze factually the actual behaviour of economic agents. It must explain not only why the different agents behave the way they do but also why they do not behave the way they ought to in order to get the desired results. It must also show how to reach where we wish to go. Its task is thus broader and far more difficult than that of conventional economics. By its very nature it is an interdisciplinary discipline and needs to identify and discuss all the major moral, social, economic and political factors, and not just prices and incomes, that influence the behaviour of different economic agents. It is only by adopting such an interdisciplinary approach that Islamic economics may be able to predict the behaviour of economic agents with a reasonable degree of confidence, and influence the future course of economic events. Confining itself primarily to a discussion of how the different agents actually behave (conventional economics) or should behave (Islamic economics so far) may not lead it very far in the direction of making a worthwhile contribution to the realization of the magasid.

The field where maximum, though still far from adequate, literature has become available is money and banking and Islamic finance. The goals that it may be possible to realize through the abolition of interest and the operation of an equity-based system have by now become quite well identified through the writings of a number of scholars. However, adequate data are not available to evaluate the actual performance of Islamic banks against these goals, to know the problems they are facing, and to explain why the ideal modes of financing have not become fully actualized. Moreover, there is hardly any information available on the perceptions and apprehensions of the general public, policy makers, shareholders and depositors about Islamisation of the

⁸⁰Kahf, 1978, p.1.

financial system. It may not be possible to work out an effective strategy for changing these perceptions or removing these apprehensions without the availability of actual data.

The available literature is preoccupied mainly with elaborating the different techniques of Islamic financial institutions. This may perhaps have been responsible for the false impression that the primary difference between conventional and Islamic economics lies in the mechanism through which financial intermediation takes place. It may not be possible to remove this false impression without a substantial theoretical advance in both microeconomics and macroeconomics. This would help identify the different variables that influence individual behaviour and goal realization, only one of which is interest, and specify the reforms needed in individual behaviour, institutional framework and environment for the Islamisation of the economies of Muslim countries.

Some progress has undoubtedly been made in macroeconomics. There has been a substantial discussion of the *maqasid*. There is, however, no theoretical model which would show how these goals may be realized. The attempts made so far "simply replace interest rate by profit-sharing ratio and introduce *zakat* as a tax without assuming any substantial change in the behaviour of the economic agents." An appropriate macroeconomic policy structure in the light of Islamic economics has hence not developed and the *maqasid* remain unrealized in the Muslim world. This is probably one of the primary reasons for the tension and turmoil in the Muslim world. However, there are very few Muslim countries where the needed data are available to indicate the extent of the gap between the *maqasid* and the prevailing situation. Few Muslim countries have adequate data on the distribution of income and wealth and the nature and quality of life, particularly of the downtrodden people, to enable us to know the degree of equity prevailing in the allocation and distribution of resources, which is considered to be the most crucial criterion for judging the Islamisation of a Muslim economy. There are also inadequate data about the extent of need-fulfillment in

⁸¹Khurshid Ahmad, 1986, p.81.

different sectors of the population, their saving and investment behaviour, employment and unemployment, child labour, wages and salaries, working conditions, work habits, and productivity, along with a convincing scientific explanation for the deviation from Islamic norms. There is very little information available on the socio-economic condition of women, along with a comparison with the high status that Islam assigns to them in its value system. Unless we know the actual position as well as the reasons for it, it may not be possible to prepare a well-conceived program for social, economic and political change, and the measures that need to be adopted to actualize this change.

The field where very little progress has been made is microeconomics. Conventional economics has built its microeconomics on some hypothetical assumptions about the behaviour of individuals and firms. These assumptions have proved to be unrealistic. Nevertheless, the assumptions continue unperturbed. Moreover, conventional economics does not discuss the change needed in individual and social behaviour to realize its macroeconomic goals. This is because of its anathema to value judgments and commitment to unrestrained individual freedom and choice. This has prevented, as discussed earlier, the development of a clear link between its micro and macro branches and frustrated the realization of its macroeconomic goals. Islamic economics has thus to establish the relationship between its macroeconomic goals and the behaviour of different economic agents through the development of a more realistic microeconomics. This may take place if there is "a separate theory of consumer behaviour and a separate theory of firm in the context of Islamic economics". 82 Since no rigorous attempt has been made to fill this gap, Yalcintas is perhaps right in pointing out that: "Construction of microeconomic theory under the Islamic constraints might be the most challenging task before Islamic economics".83

⁸² Khurshid Ahmad, 1986, p.79. 83 Yalcintas 1986, p.38.

THE TASK AHEAD

The primary focus of Islamic economics may need to be on goal realization. This should help provide a direction and perspective to even the descriptive, explanatory and predictive functions of economics. What Islamic economics needs to do is to establish the microfoundations of its macroeconomic goals. The radical differences in the worldviews of Islamic and conventional economics may have to become clearly reflected in microeconomics. This has not yet taken place and the reason is understandable. Developing a different microeconomics not based on the concept of a value-free economic man interested primarily in serving his self-interest in a this-worldly perspective by maximizing his income and consumption is a difficult task. The simplistic, though unrealistic, assumptions about human behaviour made by conventional economics make the microeconomic models more manageable Once these assumptions are removed and we make an effort to base microeconomics and the goals of macroeconomics on a consistent morally-charged worldview, we get into the difficult task of taking into account not only how economic agents actually behave but also how they should behave. This automatically makes the analysis more difficult. Such analysis may evolve gradually over time through the cumulative contributions of a number of creative scholars, each one laying perhaps one or a few bricks. Moreover, a number of variables that Islamic economics may be concerned with may not be measurable. Availability of data, trained manpower, and financial resources may tend to be a constraint. This may make Islamic economics a more difficult discipline. Nevertheless, Muslim economists may not find it possible to shy away from accepting the challenge. Their success in responding to the challenge may enable them to make a more effective contribution towards the realization of human well-being by solving many of the economic problems that mankind is now faced with.

Islamic economics, however has the advantage of benefiting from the tools of analysis developed by conventional economics. These tools, along with a consistent worldview for both microeconomics and macroeconomics, and empirical data about the extent of deviation from goal realization, may help identify the enabling social, political and

economic environment needed for the actualization of the *maqasid*. Economists may also have to explain why and when individuals do not behave in an ideal manner, why the existing institutions are unable to provide the enabling environment, and how individuals, households and firms could be made to behave in an ideal manner so as to remove the prevailing distortions.⁸⁴ All aspects of human behaviour, including individual tastes and preferences and the socio-economic and political institutions that affect the realization of goal-oriented efficiency and equity in the allocation and distribution of resources, may have to be taken into consideration, not just in their existing state but also in their ideal and enabling framework.

Islamic economics may not, in this case, be able to operate in a water-tight compartment. It may have to adopt a multidisciplinary approach. Though this may be more difficult, it may enable economists to have a more meaningful analysis of all important economic variables, including consumption, saving, investment, work, production and employment, and to suggest policy measures - a task which conventional economics is unable to perform effectively now because of an inadequate set of tools for filtering, motivation and restructuring. This may help prevent the driving away of Islamic economics from reality as has happened in the case of conventional economics.

Islamic economics thus has a long way to go before it may be able to become a distinct economic discipline. It has so far scratched only the surface. Its theoretical core has, as rightly indicated by Seyyed Vali Reza Nasr, "failed to escape the centripetal pull of western economic thought, and has in many regards been caught in the intellectual web of the very system it set out to replace". **S The result is that its practical wisdom has been unable to come to a grip with the task of analyzing even the problems faced by Muslim countries. It has thus been unable to suggest a balanced package of policy proposals in the light of Islamic teachings to enable Muslim countries to perform the difficult task of actualizing their normative goals while simultaneously reducing their imbalances.

⁸⁴See also Siddiqi, 1988, p.169. ⁸⁵Nasr, 1991, p.388.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbasi, S.M., K. W. Hollman, and J. H. Murray, "Islamic Economic Foundations and Practices," International Journal of Social Economic 5/1989, pp.5-17.
- Abu Saud, Mahmoud, "Toward Islamic Economics" in IIIT, 1989, pp.265-70.
- Ahmad, Ausaf, "A Macro Theory of Distribution in an Islamic Economy", in Khan, M.Fahim, 1988, pp.111-44.
- Ahmad, Ausaf, "Macroeconomic Function in an Islamic Framework: A Survey of Current Literature," in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.245-276
- Ahmad, Ausaf and K. R. Awan, "Lectures on Islamic Economics (Jeddah: IDB, 1992).
- Ahmad, Khurshid, "Studies in Islamic Economics" (Jeddah: ICRIE 1980), pp.390.
- Ahmad, Khurshid, "Introduction," in K. Ahmad, ed., *Studies in Islamic Economics* (Leicester, U.K.: The Islamic Foundation, 1980).
- Ahmad, Khurshid, "Problems of Research in Islamic Economics with Emphasis on Research Administration and Finance," in IRTI (1986), pp. 77-89.
- Ahmad, Khurshid, "Nature and Significance of Islamic Economics," in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.19-48.
- Ahmed, Ziauddin, Munawar Iqbal, and M. Fahim Khan, (eds.), "Money and Banking in Islam" (Jeddah, ICRIE, 1983).
- Ahmed, Ziauddin, Munawar Iqbal and M. Fahim Khan, (eds.), "Fiscal Policy and Resource Allocation in Islam" (Jeddah: ICRIE, 1983).

- Ansari, Javed Akhtar, "The Poverty of Islamic Economics," The Universal Message, February 1990, pp. 7-10.
- Ariff, Mohammad, "Islamic Ethics and Economics," in Association of Muslim Social Scientists, Proceedings of the Seventh Annual Conference (Plainfield, IN.: Association of Muslim Social Scientists, 1978), pp.1-20.
- Ariff, Mohammad, Monetary and Fiscal Economics of Islam (Jeddah: ICRIE, 1982), pp.412.
- Ariff, Mohammad, "Toward a Definition of Islamic Economics: Some Scientific Considerations," in *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, Winter 1985, pp.87-103.
- Ariff, Mohammad, "Islamic Economics: Challenges and Potentials," in Abdullah Omar Naseef (ed.), *Today's Problems, Tomorrow's Solutions* (London: Mansell, 1988), pp. 73-93.
- Arrow, Kenneth, J., "Samuelson Collected," Journal of Political Economy, October 1967. pp. 730-37
- Azhar, Rauf Ahmad, "A Theory of Optimal Investment Decision in an Islamic Economy," in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.217-242
- Baali, Fuad and All Wardi, "Ibn Khaldun and Islamic Thought-Styles: A Social Perspective (Boston: G. K. Hall. 1981).
- Backhouse, Roger (ed), New Directions in Economic Methodology (London: Routledge, 1994), pp.394.
- Badur, Radi Al-, "Problems of Research in Islamic Economics with Emphasis on Priorities and Applications", IRTI (1986), pp. 109-27.
- Balogh, Thomas, *The Irrelevance of Conventional Economics* (London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1982).

- Bell, David, and Irving Kristol, eds., *The Crisis of Economic Theory* (New York: Basic Books, 1981).
- Blaug, Mark, *The Methodology of Economics* (Cambridge University Press, 1980).
- Blaug, Mark, *Economic Theory in Retrospect* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 4th ed., 1985).
- Boulakia, Jean David C., "Ibn Khaldun: A Fourteenth Century Economist", *Journal of Political Economy*, September/October 1971, pp.1105-1118.
- Boulding, Kenneth, "Economics of Knowledge and the Knowledge of Economics", *American Economic Review*, May 1966.
- Brinton, Crane, "Enlightenment," *The Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (New York: Macmillan and the Free Press, 1967), Vol.2, pp. 519-25.
- Brittan, Samuel, Two Cheers for Self-Interest: Some Moral Prerequisites for a Market Economy, (London: The Institute of Economic Affairs, for the Wincott Foundation, 1985).
- Brown, E. H. Phelps, "The Radical Reflection of an Applied Economist", *Banca Nazionale del Lovoro Quarterly Review*, 1980.
- Caldwell, Bruce, Beyond Positivism: Economic Methodology in the Twentieth Century (London: George Allen & Unwin, 1982).
- Caws, Peter, "Scientific Method", The Encyclopedia of Philosophy (London: Macmillan, 1967), pp. 339-43).
- Chalmers, A.F., *What is This Thing Called Science?* (Buckingham: Open University, 2nd ed., 1982).
- Chapra, M. Umer, *The Economic System of Islam: A Discussion of its Goals and Nature* (London: The Islamic Cultural Centre, 1970).

- Chapra, M.Umer, *Objectives of the Islamic Economic Order* (Leicester, U K.: The Islamic Foundation, 1979).
- Chapra, M. Umer, *The Islamic Welfare State and its Role in the Economy* (Leicester, UK: The Islamic Foundation, 1979), pp.31.
- Chapra, M.Umer, *Towards a Just Monetary System* (Leicester, U.K., The Islamic Foundation, 1985), pp.292.
- Chapra, M.Umer, The Need for a New Economic System, Review of Islamic Economics, 1/1991, pp.947.
- Chapra, M.Umer, *Islam and the Economic Challenge* (Leicester, U.K., The Islamic Foundation, 1992, pp.426.
- Chapra, M.Umer, *Islam and Economic Development* (Leicester, U.K., The Islamic Foundation, 1993), pp.166.
- Choudhury, M. A., Contribution to Islamic Economic Theory: A Study in Social Economics (London: Macmillan, 1986), pp.291.
- Choudhury, M. A., "The Micro-Economic Foundations of Islamic Economics: A Study in Social Economics" *The American Journal of Islamic Social Sciences*, 2/1986, pp.231-45.
- Choudhury, Masudul Alam, "Islamic Economics as a Social Science", International Journal of Social Sciences, 6/1990, pp.35-39
- Colander, David, and Reuven Brenner (eds), *Educating Economists* (Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press, 1992), pp.294.
- Deshmogyi, Joseph, "Economic Theory in Classical Arabic Literature", *Studies in Islam*, January 1965, pp.14.

- Dhareer, Siddiq, al-, *Uncertainty in Contrasts and its Implications for Contemporary Transaction* (Arabic) (Jeddah: IRTI/IDB, 1994).
- Dopfer, Kurt, ed., *Economics in the Future: Towards a New Paradigm* (London: Macmillan, 1976).
- El-Ghazali, Abdel Hamid, Man is the Basis of the Islamic Strategy of Economic Development", Jeddah: IRTI/IDB, 1994),
- El-Ghazali, Abdel Hamid, *Profit Versus Bank Interest in Economic Analysis and Islamic Law* (Jeddah: IRTI/IDB, 1994).
- El-Ghazali, Abu Hamid, *Al-Mustasfa* (Cairo: al-Maktaba al-Tijariyyah al- Kubra, 1937).
- Elgari, NI. A. "Some Islamic Insights on the Theory of Consume Behaviour", *Journal of Objective Studies*, 1/1990.
- Enan, Mohammad, 1941, *Ibn Khaldun: His Life and Work* (Lahore: Sh. Muhammad Ashraf).
- Etzioni, Amitai, *The Moral Dimensions: Towards a New Economics* (Macmillan, 1989), pp.314.
- Faridi, Fazlur Rahman, "Islamisation of Economics: The Indian and Global Context", *Journal of Objective Studies* (Aligarh, India), 1/1990. pp. 72-82.
- Feigl, Herbert, "Positivism and Logical Empiricism", *The New Encyclopedia Brittanica*, 15th ed. (1973-4), Vol.14.
- Feyerabend, P., "Against Method: Outline of an Anarchistic Theory of Knowledge," in M. Radner and S. Winokur (eds.), *Minnesota Studies in the Philosophy of Science*, 4: 17-130.
- Friedman, Milton, *Essays in Positive Economics* (Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1953).

- Friedman, Milton, Capitalism and Freedom (Chicago: The Universit' of Chicago Press, 1972).
- Friedman, Milton and Rose, Free to Choose (London: Seeker & Warburg, 1980).
- Galbraith, J. K., "Power and the Useful Economist", American Economic Review, May 1973.
- Ghazali, Aidit, and Syed Omar (eds.), Readings in the Concept and Methodology of Islamic Economics (Malaysia: Pelanduk, 1989), pp.168.
- Gilani, Ijaz Shafi, "The Political Context of Islamic Economics", in Ahmad, K. (ed.), 1980, pp.131-42.
- Goitein, S.D., Studies in Islamic History and Institutions (Leiden: Brill, 1968).
- Goitein, S.D., Mediterranean Society (Berkeley and Los Angeles, 1967).
- Gordon, Barry, Economic Analysis before Adam Smith (London: Macmillan, 1975).
- Gussau, Sule Ahmed, *The Nature and Methodology of Islamic Economics*, Molla (1986), pp. 29-37.
- Habshi, Syed Othman al-, "The Role of Ethics in Economics and Business", *Journal of Islamic Economics* (Malaysia), 1/1987, pp. 1-15.
- Hahn, F., "Some Adjustment Problems", Presidential Address at the December 1968 Meeting of the Econometric Society, *Econometrica*, January 1970.
- Hahn, F., and M. Hollis, *Philosophy and Economic Theory* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1979).

- Hameedullah, Muhammad, "Budgeting and Taxation in the Time of the Holy Prophet", *Journal of the Pakistan Historical Society*, January 1955.
- Hanna, S.A., "Al-Afghani: A Pioneer of Islamic Socialism", *Muslim World*, January 1967, pp.24-32.
- Haque, Nadeem ul-, and Mirakhor, Abbas, "Optimal Profit-Sharing Contracts and Investment in an Interest-Free Economy", in Khan and Mirakhor, pp.141-161.
- Haque, Nadeem ul-, and Mirakhor, Abbas, "Saving Behaviour in an Economy Without Fixed Interest", in Khan and Mirakhor, 1987, pp.125-139.
- Hasanuzzaman, S.M. "Definition of Islamic Economics", *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, Winter 1984, pp.51-53.
- Heilbroner, Robert L. ed., *Economic Means and Social Ends: Essays in Political Economics* (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1969).
- Hicks, J., "Revolutions in Economics", in S. J. Latsis, *Method and Appraisal in Economics* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1976), pp. 207-18.
- Hicks, John, "Is Economics a Science?" in M. Baranzini and R. Scazzieri, eds., Foundations of Economics (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1986), pp. 91-101.
- Hodgson, Geoffrey, *Economics and Institutions* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania, 1988).
- Hollis, Martin and Nell, Edward, *Rational Economic Man: Philosophical Critique of Neo-Classical Economics* (Cambridge University Press, 1975).

- Hosseini, Hamid, "Islamic Economics in Iran: Is a New Economic Paradigm in the Making?", *Journal of South Asian and Middle Eastern Studies* (Villanova, Pa.), 2/1988, pp. 21-44.
- Hunt, E.K., and Schwartz, Jesse G., *A Critique of Economic Theory* (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1972).
- Ibn Khaldun, *Muqaddimah* (Cairo: Al-Maktabah al-Tijariyyah al-Kubra, n.d.). See also its translation under Rosenthal, F.,
- Idris, Ghaffar, "Economics Sans Man Sans Purpose": Review Article on J.K. Galbraith's *Economic and the Public Purpose*, *Impact* (London), 11 July 1974, p.8.
- International Institute of Islamic Thought (IIIT) (ed.), *Islam: Source and Purpose of Knowledge* (Herndon. VA: IIIT, 1988).
- International Institute of Islamic thought (IIIT) (ed.), *Toward Islamisation of Discipline* (Herndon, VA: IIIT, 1989), pp.555.
- Iqbal, Munawar, "Zakat, Moderation and Aggregate Consumption in an Islamic Economy", in *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, 1/1985, pp.45-62.
- Iqbal, Munawar, "Islamic Approach towards the Economic Problem", in Molla (1986), pp. 19-28.
- Iqbal, Munawar (ed.), Distributive Justice and Need Fulfillment in an Islamic Economy (Leicester: The Islamic Foundation, 1988), pp.384.
- Iqbal, Munawar, "Organization of Production and Theory of Firm Behaviour from an Islamic Perspective", Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp. 205-215.
- Islahi, Abdul Azim, *Economic Concepts of Ibn Taymiyyah* (Leicester, U.K., The Islamic Foundation, 1988).

- Islamic Research and Training Institute (IRTI), Islamic Development Bank, Problems of Research in Islamic Economics (Jeddah: IRTI, 1986).
- Issawi Charles, An Arab Philosophy of History: Selections from the Prolegomena of Ibn Khaldun of Tunis (1332-1406) (London: John Murray, 1950), pp.790.
- Jarhi, Mabid Ali M.M. al-, "The Relative Efficiency of Interest-Free Monetary Economies: The Fiat Money Case", Khan and Mirakhor, 1987, pp. 37-73.
- Jarhi, Mabid Ali, al-, "Towards an Islamic Macro Model of Distribution: A Comparative Approach," in Khan, M.Fahim, 1989, pp.145-202
- Junaid, Syed Abdul Hamid, "Factors of Production and Factor Pricing from an Islamic Perspective," in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.185-204.
- Kahf, M., *The Islamic Economy* (Plainfield, IN: Muslim Students' Association of U.S. and Canada, 1978) pp.110. See also the review of this book by M. Umer Chapra in the *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, Winter 1984, pp.83-5.
- Kahf, Monzer, "A Contribution to the Theory of Consumer Behaviour in an Islamic Society", in K. Ahmad (1980), pp. 19-36.
- Kahf, M., "Saving and Investment Functions in a Two-Sector Islamic Economy", in Ariff, 1982, pp.107-123.
- Kaldor, Nicholas, "The Irrelevance of Equilibrium Economics", *Economic Journal*, 1972.
- Kamarck, Andrew M., *Economics and the Real World* (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983).
- Katouzian, Homa, Ideology and Method in Economics (London: Macmillan. 1980).

- Khan, M. Akram, An Introduction to Islamic Economic (Islamabad: IIIT and IPS, 1994).
- Khan, M. Fahim, "Factors of Production and Factor Markets in Islamic Framework", Journal of Research in Islamic Economics, 2/1985.
- Khan, M. Fahim, "Macro-Consumption Function in an Islamic Framework", in Khan, M. Fahim (ed.), 1988, pp.17-52. See also the comments on this paper by Zubair Hasan, pp.79-81.
- Khan, M. Fahim (ed.), Distribution in Macroeconomic Framework: An Islamic Perspective (Islambabad: IIIE, 1988), pp.230.
- Khan, M. Fahim, *Theory of Consumer Behaviour in Islamic Perspective*" in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.169-184.
- Khan, M. Fahim, *Essays in Islamic Economics* (Leicester, U.K., The Islamic Foundation, 1994).
- Khan, Mohsin S., "Islamic Interest-Free Banking: A Theoretical Analysis," in Khan. and Mirakhor, 1987, pp.15-35 and pp.201-206.
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Mirakhor, Abbas, (eds), *Theoretical Studies in Islamic Banking and Finance* (Houston, Texas: The Institute for Research and Islamic Studies, 1987), pp.245.
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Mirakhor, Abbas, The Financial System and Monetary Policy in an Islamic Economy", in Khan and Mirakhor, 1987, pp.163-184.
- Khan, Mohsin S., "Principles of Monetary Theory and Policy in an Islamic Framework", in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.323-342.
- Khan, Shahrukh Rafi, "An Economic Analysis of PLS Model for the Financial Sector", in Khan and Mirakhor, 1987, pp.107-124.

- Khan, Waqar Masood, "Saving and Investment in an Interest-Free Economy", in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.277-288.
- Khan, Muhammad Akram, "Methodology of Islamic Economics", *Journal of Islamic Economics* (Malaysia), 1/1987, pp. 17-33.
- Khan, Muhammad Akram, Glossary of Islamic Economics (London: Mansell, 1990).
- Kister, M J., "The Market of the Prophet", Journal of the Economic and Social History of the Orient, Jan.1965, pp.272-76.
- Klamer, A., The New Classical Macroeconomics: Conversations with New Classical Macroeconomists and their Opponents (Brighton: Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1984).
- Knight, Frank H., "Social Economic Organization" reprinted from his, "The Economic Organization", pp. 3-30 in W. Breit, et. al., *Readings in Microeconomics* (St. Louis: Times Mirror/Mosby, 1986).
- Kristol, Irving, Rationalism in Economics, Bell and Kristol (1981).
- Kuhn, T.S., The Function of Measurement in Modern Physical Science, Isis, 52 (1961), pp. 161-93.
- Kuhn, Thomas S., *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1st. ed., 1962, 2nd ed., 1970).
- Lakatos, Imre, "Falsification and the Methodology of Scientific Research Programme", in I. Lakatos and A. Musgrave, *Criticism and the Growth of Knowledge* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1974), pp. 91-196

- Latsis, S.J., Method and Appraisal in Economics (Cambridge University Press, 1976).
- Lipsey, Richard G., An Introduction to Positive Economics (London: Widenfeld and Nicolson, seventh ed., 1989), pp.808.
- Lukas, Robert E., Jr., and Sargent, Thomas, J., "After Keynesian Macroeconomics", Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, *Quarterly Review*, Spring 1979, pp. 1-16.
- Lutz, Mark and Lux, Kenneth, *The Challenge of Humanistic Economics* (Menlo Park, CA.: Benjamin/Cummings, 1979).
- Mandi, Syed Iqbal, "Islamic Approach to Model Building in Economics and Other Social Sciences: A Methodological ^framework", *Journal of Objective Studies* (Aligarh, India), 1/1990, pp. 93-84.
- Mannan, M.A.. "Islamic Economics as a Social Science: Some Methodological Issues", *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, Summer 1983, pp.49-64.
- Mannan, M. A., *Islamic Economics: Theory and Practice* (Cambridge: The Islamic Academy, revised ed., 1986), pp.425.
- Mannan, M.A., "The Frontiers of Islamic Economics: Some Philosophical Underpinnings", in IIIT, 1989, pp.295-311.
- Masud, M. Khalid, Islamic Legal Philosophy: A Study of Abu Ishaq Shatibi's Life and Thought (Islamabad: Islamic Research Institute, 1977).
- McCloskey, D.N., *The Rhetoric of Economics* (Brighton: Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1986).
- Metwally, Mokhtar M., *Macroeconomic Models of Islamic Doctrines* (London: J.K. Publishers, 1981), pp.78.

- Metwally, Mokhtar M., "A Behavioural Model of an Islamic Firm" (Jeddah. Centre for Research in Islamic Economics, n.d.), a privately circulated mimeographed paper. pp.13.
- Meyer, M.S., "Economic Thought in the Ottoman Empire in the 14th early 19th Centuries," in *Archive Orientalia*, Vol.4, No.57, 1989, pp.305-18.
- Mieczkowski, Bogdan, "Ibn Khaldun's Fourteenth Century Views on Bureaucracy", *The American Journal of Islamic Social Sciences*. December, 1987.
- Mirakhor, Abbas, and Zaidi, Iqbal, "Stabilization and Growth in an Open Islamic Economy," in Ahinad and Awan, 1992, pp. 95-417, .
- Mirakhor, Abbas, The Muslim Scholars and the History of Economics: A Need for Consideration," *The American Journal of Islamic Social Sciences*, December, 1987, pp. 245-76.
- Mirakhor, Abbas, "Islamisation of the Disciplines: Muslim Scholars and the History of Economics," *The American Journal of Islamic Social Sciences*, 2/1987, pp. 245-75.
- Molla, Rafiqul Islam, et al.. eds., Frontiers and Mechanics of Islamic Economics (Nigeria: University of Sokoto, 1988).
- Nagel, E., The Structure of Science: Problems in the Logic of Scientific Explanation (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1961).
- Naqvi, S.N.H., "Ethical Foundations of Islamic Economics", *Islamic Studies*, Summer 1978.
- Naqvi, S. Nawab Haider, *Ethics and Economics: an Islamic Synthesis* (Leicester: The Islamic Foundation. 1981), pp.176. See also the Review

- of M.Umer Chapra on this book in *The Muslim World Book Review* (Leicester), 1/1981, pp.21-6.
- Naqvi, Syed Nawab Haider, *Islam, Economics and Society* (London: Kegan Paul, 1994), pp.176.
- Nasr, Seyyed Vail Reza, "Whither Islamic Economics?", *The Islamic Quarterly*, Fourth Quarter, 1986, pp. 211-20.
- Nasr, Seyyed Vali Reza, "Islamic Economics: Novel Perspectives," *Middle Eastern Studies*, October 1989, pp. 516-30.
- Nasr, Seyyed Vail Reza, "Towards a Philosophy of Islamic Economics", *Hamdard Islamicus* (Karachi), 4/1989, pp.45-60.
- Nasr, Seyyed Vali Reza, "Islamisation of Knowledge: A Critical Overview", *Islamic Studies*, Autumn 1991, pp. 387-400.
- North, Douglas C., *Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1990).
- North, Douglas C., "Economic Performance through Time", *The American Economic Review*, June 1994, pp.359-68.
- Nyazee, Imran A.K., Theories of Islamic Law: The Methodology of Ijtihad" (Islamabad: IIIT, 1994).
- Okun, Arthur, Equality and Efficiency: the Big Trade-off (Washington, D.C.: The Brooking Institution, 1975).
- Phelby, J., Methodology in Economics: A Critical Introduction (London: Macmillan, 1988).
- Presley, J. R., and Sessions, J.G., "Islamic Economics: The Emergence of a New Paradigm", *The Economic Journal*, May 1994, pp. 584-96.

- Rahim, M.A., "Some Early Works on Islamic Economics" in Thoughts on Islamic Economics (Dhaka: Islamic Economics Research Bureau, 1980), pp.319-27.
- Rashid, Salim, "Islamic Economics: A Historico-Inductive Approach", *Journal of Islamic Banking and Finance* (Karachi), 1/1989, pp. 33-44.
- Rawls, John, "Justice is Fairness", Philosophical Review, vol.67 (1958), pp.164-94.
- Raysuni, Ahmad, al-Nazariyyah al-Maqasid 'Inda al-Imam al-Shatibi (Riyadh: Al-Dar al-'Alamiyyah 111 Kitab al-Islami, second ed., 1992).
- Robbins, Lionel, An Essay in the Nature and Significance of Economic Science (London: Macmillan, second ed., 1935).
- Robinson, Joan, "The Second Crisis of Economic Theory", American Economic Review, May 1972.
- Rosenberg, A., *Microeconomic Laws: A Philosophical Analysis* (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1976).
- Rosenberg, A., Mathematical Politics or Science of Diminishing Returns? (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1992).
- Rosenthal, Franz, "The Technique and Approach of Muslim Scholarship", *Analecta Grientelia*, Vol. 24, 1947.
- Rosenthal, Franz, *Ibn Khaldun: The Muqaddimah, An Introduction to History* (London: Routledge and Kegal Paul, first ed., 1958, second ed. 1967), 3 volumes.
- Routh, Guy, *The-Origin of Economic Ideas* (London: Macmillan, second edition, 1989), pp.360.
- Sadeq, A.H.M., *Islamic Economics* (Lahore: Islamic Publications, 1989).

- Samuelson, Paul, Foundations of Economic Analysis (New York: Atheneum, second ed., 1965).
- Sato. H., Understanding Zakat: An Inquiry into the Methodological Problems of the Science of Economics (Niigate: Institute of Middle Eastern Studies, 1987), pp.115.
- Schatzmiller, Maya, Labour in the Medieval Islamic World (Leiden: Brill, 1994).
- Schumpeter, Joseph A., *History of Economic Analysis*, ed., Elizabeth B. Schumpeter (New York: Oxford University Press, 1954)
- Schultz, Charles, *The Public Use of Private Purpose* (Washington, D.C.: Brookin^gs Institution, 1957).
- Sen, Amartya, On Ethics and Economics (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1987).
- Sharif, M. Raihan, "Some Consideration of Equity and Efficiency as Related to the Theory of Distribution under Modern/Western Approach and the Islamic Approach", in *Thoughts on Economics* (Dhaka) 34/1987,
- Sherwani, H.K., "Ibn-e-Khaldun and His Politico-Economic Thoughts", in *Islamic Culture*, April 1970, pp.71-80.
- Siddiqi, M. Nejatullah, *Economic Enterprise in Islam* (Lahore Islamic Publications, 1972), pp.179.
- Siddiqi, M. Nejatullah, Muslim Economic Thinking: a Survey of Contemporary Literature (Leicester, U.K.: The Islamic Foundation, 1981).
- Siddiqi, M. Nejatullah, "Recent Works on the History of Economic Thought in Islam: A Survey" (Jeddah: Centre for Research in Islamic Economics, 1982), pp.60

- Siddiqi, M. Nejatuliah, "An Islamic Approach to Economics", in IIIT, 1988, pp. 155-74
- Siddiqi, M. Ne^jatuIlah, "From Contemporary Economics to Islamic Economics," in Abdullah Omar Naseef (ed.), *Today's Problems, Tomorrow's Solutions* (London: Mansell, 1988), pp. 118-42.
- Siddiqi, M.Nejatullah, "History of Islamic Economic Thought", in Ahmad and Awan, 1992. pp.69-90.
- Smith, Adam (1776), An Inquiry into the Nature and the Causes of the Wealth of Nations (New York: The Modern Library, 1937).
- Solo, Robert A., "Values and judgments in the Discourse of the Sciences", in. Robert Solo and Charles Anderson, eds., Value Judgment and Income Distribution (New York: Praeger, 1981)
- Spengler, Joseph, "Economic Thought of Ibn Khaldun" Comparative Studies in Society and History, April 1964.
- Stigler. G., Production and Distribution Theories: The Formative Period (New York: Macmillan, 1941).
- Tahir, Syed, "A Contribution to the Theory of Deteiiiination of Aggregate Output, Income and Economic Inequalities in an Islamic Economy", Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp. 289-320.
- Taj el-Din, Seif el-Din Ibrahim, "Macro-Consumption Function in an Islamic Framework", *Journal of Research in Islamic Economics*, Summer 1984, pp. 57-62.
- Tawney, R.H., The Acquisitive Society (New York: Harcourt Brace, 1948).
- Thurow, Lester, *Dangerous Currents: The State of Economics* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1983).

- Toynbee, Arnold, 1934, A Study of History (London: Oxford University Press).
- Van Meerhaeghe, M.A.G., *Economic Theory: A Critic's Companion* (London: Martinus Nijhoff, 1980).
- Waliyullah, Shah, *Hujjtullah al-Balighah* (Beirut: Dar Ihya' al-'Ulum, 1992), 2 volumes.
- Ward, Benjamin, What's Wrong with Economics? (New York: Basic Books, 1972).
- Wiles, Peter, and Routh, Guy, (eds.), *Economics in Disarray* (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1984).
- Woo, Henry K.H., What's Wrong with Formalization in Economics? (Newark, Cal.: Victoria Press, 1986).
- Worswick, G.D.N., "Is Progress of Economic Science Possible?", *Economic Journal*, 1972, pp. 73-86.
- Yalcintas, Nevzat, Problems of Research in Islamic Economics: General Background, IRTI (1986), pp. 23-41.
- Zarqa, M. Anas, "Islamic Economics: an Approach to Human Welfare," in K. Ahmad (1980), pp. 3-118.
- Zarqa, M. Anas, "Capital Allocation, Efficiency and Growth in an Interest-free Islamic Economy", *Journal of Economics and Administration* (Jeddah, Saudi Arabia), November 1982, pp.43-55.
- Zarqa, M. Anas, "A Note on Islamising Economics," in Molla (1986), pp. 61-64.
- Zarqa, M. Anas, Problems of Research in the Theory of Islamic Economics: Suggested Solutions, IRTI (1986), pp. 52-63.

- Zarqa, Mohammad Anas, "Methodology of Islamic Economics", in Ahmad and Awan, 1992, pp.49-67.
- Ziadeh, Nicola, Al-Hisabh and Al-Muhtasib in Islam: Old Texts Collected and Edited with an Introduction (Beirut: Catholic Press, 1962)
- Zuhair, Hasan, "Theory of Profit: The Islamic Viewpoint", Journal of Research in Islamic Economics, Summer 1983, pp.1-16.

ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK (IDB)

Establishment of the Bank

The Islamic Development Bank is an international financial institution established in pursuance of the Declaration of Intent by a Conference of Finance Ministers of Muslim countries held in Jeddah in Dhul Qa'da 1393H (December 1973). The Inaugural Meeting of the Board of Governors took place in Rajab 1395H (July 1975) and the Bank formally opened on 15 Shawwal 1395H (20 October 1975).

Purpose

The purpose of the Bank is to foster the economic development and social progress of member countries and Muslim communities individually as well as jointly in accordance with the principles of *Shari'ah*.

Functions

The functions of the Bank are to participate in equity capital and grant loans for productive projects and enterprises besides providing financial assistance to member countries in other forms of economic and social development. The Bank is also required to establish and operate special funds for specific purposes including a fund for assistance to Muslim communities in non-member countries, in addition to setting up trust funds.

The Bank is authorized to accept deposits and to raise funds in any other manner. It is also charged with the responsibility of assisting in the promotion of foreign trade, especially in capital goods among member countries, providing technical assistance to member countries, extending training facilities for personnel engaged in development activities and undertaking research for enabling the economic, financial and banking activities in Muslim countries to conform to the *Shari'ah*.

Membership

The present membership of the Bank consists of 50 countries. The basic condition for membership is that the prospective member country should be a member of the Organization of the Islamic Conference and be willing to accept such terms and conditions as may be decided upon by the Board of Governors.

Capital

The authorized capital of the Bank is six billion Islamic Dinars. The value of the Islamic Dinar, which is a unit of account in the Bank, is equivalent to one Special Drawing Right (SDR) of the International Monetary Fund. The subscribed capital of the Bank is 3,654.78 million Islamic Dinars payable in freely convertible currency acceptable to the Bank.

Head Office

The Bank's head office is located in Jeddah in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank is authorized to establish agencies or branch offices elsewhere.

Financial Year

The Bank's financial year is the Lunar Hijra year.

Language

The official language of the Bank is Arabic, but English and French are additionally used as working languages.